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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUALREPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 98-0181725
State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification No.)
8310 South Valley Highway

Suite 350

Englewood

Colorado 80112

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (303) 792 5554
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bhefAct:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which reqistered
N/A N/A
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:  Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes O No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.

Yes O No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files).

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel
Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes O No

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2014) was approximately $444 million, based on the closing price of the common shares on the NASDAQ on June 30, 2014. Shares of common stock held by each officer
and director and by each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates.
This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.
As of February 11, 2015, 24,296,876 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of Innospec Ir's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stodttars to be held on May 6, 2015 are incorporatecebgrence into Part Il of this Form -K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains certain “forward-lookingt&ments” within the meaning of the Private Semgikitigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than sterts of historical facts included or incorporatedein may
constitute forward-looking statements. Such forwlaaking statements include statements (covereddoys like
“expects,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “may,” “beles” or similar words or expressions), for exampleich relate to
earnings, growth potential, operating performaeeents or developments that we expect or anticipat®r may
occur in the future. Although forwaldeking statements are believed by management tedsmnable when made, tl
are subject to certain risks, uncertainties andrapsions, and our actual performance or results difégr materially
from these forward-looking statements. You are drigereview our discussion of risks and uncertagthat could
cause actual results to differ from forward-lookstgtements under the heading “Risk Factors.” Ipeosindertakes no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forwdodking statements, whether as a result of nearmétion, future
events or otherwise.
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PART I
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms “Innospec,” “the Corporatitthe Company,” “Registrant,” “we,” “us” and “ourwe are
referring to Innospec Inc. and its consolidatedsgiiaries unless otherwise indicated or the cortéhxrwise requires.

General

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends, markdtswgplies fuel additives, oilfield chemicals, peral care and
fragrance ingredients and other specialty chemi€als products are sold primarily to oil and gaplesation and
production companies, oil refineries, personal eer@ fragrance companies, and other chemical ahginal
companies throughout the world. Our fuel additike improve fuel efficiency, boost engine perfono@and reduce
harmful emissions. Our oilfield specialties busssspplies drilling and production chemicals whicake exploration
and production more cost-efficient and more envirentally-friendly. Our other specialty chemicalsyide effective
technology-based solutions for our customers’ ses or products focused in the Personal Carefrféody and
Fragrance Ingredients markets. Our Octane Additivssness manufactures products for use in autemgasoline ar
provides services in respect of environmental reatiech.

Segmental Information

Innospec divides its business into three segmentmi&nagement and reporting purposes:
* Fuel Specialtie
» Performance Chemica
e Octane Additive:

The Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals eseignoperate in markets where we actively seektfirow
opportunities although their ultimate customersdifierent. The Octane Additives segment is gemerddaracterized
by volatile and declining demand. For financiabimhation about each of our segments, see Notdl8dflotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties segment develops, manufactolesds, markets and supplies a range of speahéynical
products used as additives to a wide range of .fiidlsse fuel additive products help improve fuéitefncy, boost
engine performance and reduce harmful emissiortsaeused in the efficient operation of automgtiaarine and
aviation engines, power station generators, antifgeand diesel particulate filter systems. OurlFRgecialties
segment also includes our activities in the oiffispecialties sector.

4
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During 2014, we completed the acquisition of Indefsnce Oilfield Chemicals LLC (“Independence”) past of our
strategy of building a new market leader in théedd specialties sector.

In addition to our recent acquisitions in the eilfi specialties sector, the segment has grown magnthrough our
development of new products to address what we\sekre the key drivers in demand for fuel addétividhese drivers
include increased focus on fuel economy, changngine technology and legislative developments. \Aielalso
devoted substantial resources towards the develupoh@ew and improved products that may be usechpoove fuel
efficiency.

Our customers in this segment include nationat@mhpanies, multinational oil companies, oil and ggsloration and
production companies and fuel retailers.

Performance Chemicals

Our Performance Chemicals segment provides effetdiohnology-based solutions for our customersgsees or
products focused in the Personal Care; PolymesFaagrance Ingredients markets.

This segment has also grown organically, throughdiavelopment and marketing of innovative prodtecthe personal
care industry. The focus for our Performance Chalsisegment is to develop high performance produmts its
technology base in a number of targeted markets.

Our customers in this segment include large mulibnal companies, manufacturers of personal cadehansehold
products and specialty chemical manufacturers dipgran niche industries.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives segment, which we believéésworld’s only producer of tetra ethyl lead (“TELtomprises
sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline and/ioles services in respect of our environmental giat®n business.
We are continuing to responsibly manage the deereahe sales of TEL for use in automotive gagoiimline with the
transition plans to unleaded gasoline of other ieim@ TEL countries. Cost improvement measuresinaatto be
taken to respond to declining market demand.

Sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline areearnatihcipally to state-owned refineries locatedorthern Africa.
Our environmental remediation business managesl¢a@up of redundant TEL plants as refineries ceteghe move
away from leaded gasoline.

Strategy

Our strategy is to develop new and improved praxlant technologies to continue to strengthen asréase our
market positions within our Fuel Specialties anddtenance
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Chemicals segments. The segments together havavkealye organic revenue growth of 6% per annumaaachge
operating income growth of 6% per annum, since 2008 also actively continue to assess potentiatesgic
acquisitions, partnerships and other opportunthas would enhance and expand our customer offevifegfocus on
opportunities that would extend our technology bgsegraphical coverage or product portfolio. Wkelve that
focusing on the Fuel Specialties and Performananitals segments, in which the Company has existipgrience,
expertise and knowledge, provides opportunitiepbmitive returns on investment with reduced opegatsk. We also
continue to develop our geographical footprint,sstent with the development of global markets.

Geographical Area | nformation

Financial information with respect to our domesinz foreign operations is contained in Note 3 efilotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Working Capital

The nature of our customers’ businesses geneglyires us to hold appropriate amounts of inventorrder to be
able to respond quickly to customers’ needs. Weethee require corresponding amounts of workingtehfor normal
operations. We do not believe that this is matigrdifferent to what our competitors do (with theception of cetane
number improvers, in which case we maintain higbugi levels of inventory, as required, to retain mosition as
market leader in sales of these products).

The purchase of large amounts of certain raw nasefior our Fuel Specialties and Octane Additivegnsents can
create some variations in working capital requiretsebut these are planned and well managed hyusieess.

We do not believe that our terms of sale, or pwsehdiffer markedly from those of our competitors.
Raw Materials and Product Supply

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsimmanufacturing and blending processes and leetieat sources
for these are adequate for our current operatidnsmajor purchases are cetane number improvetan®enhancers,
Ethylene and various solvents.

These purchases account for a substantial portibtredCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of Ethylene for our operatiom&sermany, readily available from more than onecauAlthough
Ethylene is, in theory, available from several sesy it is not permissible to transport Ethylenedad in Germany. As
a result, we source Ethylene for our German opmratvia a direct pipeline from a neighboring sit@king it
effectively a single source. Ethylene is used psraary raw material in products representing agipnately 6% of the
Company’s sales.
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We use long-term contracts (generally with fixedaymula-based costs) and advance bulk purchadsspoensure
availability and continuity of supply, and to maeage risk of cost increases. From time to timestone raw materia
the risk of cost increases is managed with comma@viaps.

We continue to monitor the situation and adjustgocurement strategies as we deem appropriateCohgany
forecasts its raw material requirements substdyirmbdvance, and seeks to build long-term retesiops and
contractual positions with supply partners to saéd its raw material positions. In addition, then@pany operates an
extensive risk management program which seeksusdkey raw materials from multiple sources andeteelop
suitable contingency plans.

I ntellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmas and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive advantage, particularly in the Fuel@plies and Performance Chemicals segments. Thgp@oy does
not, however, consider its business as a whole tependent on any one trademark, patent or license

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and psitéoth granted and in the application stage, mogeroducts an
processes in several jurisdictions. The majoritthese patents were developed by the Company abjcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment néweal fees, have at least 10 years life remaining.

The trademark “Innospec and the Innospec devic€lasses 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Classiitn of Goods
and Services for the Purposes of the Registrafidtaoks” are registered in all jurisdictions in whithe Company has
a significant market presence. The Company alsdrademark registrations for certain product names|
jurisdictions in which it has a significant markeesence

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgend product developments by filing patent apgitieis and
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigohppsurticipate in patent opposition proceedingsuacbthe world
where necessary to secure a technology base tn@eirifringement of our intellectual property.

Customers

In 2014, the Company had as a significant customtite Fuel Specialties segment, Royal Dutch Sileland its
affiliates (“Shell”), which accounted for $81.9 toh (8.5%) of our net group sales. In 2013 andZ@&hell accounted
for $83.1 million (10%) and $82.9 million (11%) ofir net group sales, respectively.

We have sales contracts with customers in someetgusing fixed or formulaased prices, as appropriate, to mair
our gross profits.
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Competition
Certain markets in which the Company operatesw#vgst to significant competition. The Company cetas on th

basis of a number of factors including, but notitied to, product quality and performance, specaaiproduct lines,
customer relationships and service, and regulaodytoxicological expertise.

Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is generally fragmeataticharacterized by a small number of
competitors in each submarket. The competitoraaheubmarket differ with no one company holdirdpainant
position in the Fuel Specialties market. Within heel Specialties market, the oilfield specialseb-market is also
very fragmented — although there are a small nurobeery large competitors, there are also a langaber of smaller
players focused on specific technologies or regidvis consider our competitive edge to be our praeehnical
development capacity, independence from majorariganies and strong long-term relationships witimegy
customers.

Performance ChemicalWe operate in three principal markets within Perfance Chemicals — Personal Care;
Polymers; and Fragrance Ingredients. The Persara @arket is highly fragmented, and the Compapgeances
substantial competition from a large number of mational and specialty chemical suppliers in egebgraphical
market. The Fragrance Ingredients and Polymersetsaete more concentrated, with a small numberio€ipal
competitors. Our competitive position in all threarkets is based on us supplying a superior, ddv@rsduct portfolio
which solves particular customer problems or enbaitice performance of new or existing products. fumber of
specialty chemicals markets, we also supply nicbduyrt lines, where we enjoy market-leading posgio

Octane AdditivesiWe believe our Octane Additives segment is the di®idnly producer of TEL and accordingly is the
only supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoliide segment therefore competes with marketepsaofucts and
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmitane performance in automotive gasoline.

Research, Development, Testing and Technical Support

Research, product/application development and teahsupport (“R&D”) provide the basis for the grthwof our Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals segmentsrdiogly, the Company’s R&D activity has been, avitd
continue to be, focused on the development of madyrts and formulations. Our R&D department presitechnical
support for all of our reporting segments. Expaméi$ to support R&D services were $22.2 millionl.&2million and
$19.6 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

We believe that our proven technical capabilitiesve us with a significant competitive advantalgethe last five
years, the Fuel Specialties segment has develapedietergent, cold flow, stabilizers, anti-foulambricity and
combustion improver products, in addition to thiedduction of many new cost effective fuel additpackages. This
proven technical capability has also been instruaiém enabling us to produce innovative new prasludgthin our
Performance Chemicals segment including Isélux Statsafe® .
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Health, Safety and Environmental Matters

We are subject to environmental laws in the majasftthe countries in which we conduct businessnaggement
believes that the Company is in material compliamitk applicable environmental laws and has madenftessary
provisions for the continued costs of compliancthwenvironmental laws, including where appropredset retirement
obligations.

Our principal site giving rise to environmental efration liabilities is the Octane Additives maruitaing site at
Ellesmere Port in the United Kingdom. There are alsvironmental remediation liabilities on a muatadier scale in
respect of our other manufacturing sites in the. drfsl Europe. At Ellesmere Port there is a contignaisset retirement
program related to certain manufacturing units Haate been closed.

We recognize environmental liabilities when theg probable and costs can be reasonably estimaig@dsset
retirement obligations when there is a legal obliayaand costs can be reasonably estimated. Thidvies anticipating
the program of work and the associated future explemosts, and so involves the exercise of judgiemianagement.
We regularly review the future expected costs ofadiation and the current estimate is reflectedote 12 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

The European Union legislation known as the Regfisin, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemical Stalnces
Regulations ("REACH?”) requires most of the Compangtoducts to be registered with the European Ctami
Agency. Under this legislation the Company hasamadnstrate that its products are appropriate far thtended
purposes. During this registration process, the o incurs expense to test and register its ptedilibe Company
estimates that the cost of complying with REACHI Wwé approximately $3 million over the next thremasys.

Employees

The Company had approximately 1300 employees ico2@tries as at December 31, 2014 (1100 employe28 i
countries as at December 31, 2013).

Available I nformation

Our corporate web site is www.innospecinc.com. \Wkeravailable, free of charge, on or through thes site our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycptde after
electronically filing such material with, or furhig it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comsimis(“SEC”).

The Company routinely posts important informationifivestors on its web site (under Investor Refe). The
Company uses this web site as a means of disclasatgrial, non-public information and for complyingh its
disclosure obligations under SEC Regulation FD if‘Basclosure”).Accordingly, investors should monitor the Inve:
Relations portion of the Company’s web site, iniadd to following the Company’s press releasesCSings, public
conference calls, presentations and webcasts.
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ltem 1A Risk Factors
The factors described below represent the principks$ associated with our business.

We are subject to extensive regulation of our international operations that could adversely affect our business and
results of operations.

Due to our global operations, we are subject toynaws governing international commercial activitgnduct and
relations, including those that prohibit impropayments to government officials, restrict where attth whom we cai
do business, and limit the products, software antriology that we can supply to certain countries@istomers.
These laws include but are not limited to, the B&eign Corrupt Practices Act and United Kingdonb@ry Act,
sanctions and assets control programs adminisbgréite U.S. Department of the Treasury and/or tim®jean Union
from time to time, and the U.S. export control lasugh as the regulations under the U.S. Export Athtnation Act, as
well as similar laws and regulations in other coestrelevant to our business operations. Violatiohany of these
laws or regulations, which are often complex inrthgplication, may result in criminal or civil palties that could hay
a material adverse effect on our results of opamatifinancial position and cash flows.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or successfully integrate future acquisitions, partnerships or other
opportunitiesinto our business, which could hinder our strategy or result in unanticipated expenses and losses.

Part of our strategy is to pursue strategic actjois, partnerships and other opportunities to dempnt and expand
our existing business. The success of these tramsadepends on our ability to efficiently complétansactions,
integrate assets and personnel acquired in theasgairtions and apply our internal control process#dsese acquired
businesses. Consummating acquisitions, partnershipther opportunities and integrating an acqoisiinvolve
considerable expenses, resources and managemergdimmitments, and our failure to effect thesentended could
result in unanticipated expenses and losses. Rgsisition integration may result in unforeseeticlifities and may
deplete significant financial and management resesuthat could otherwise be available for the amgdievelopment
or expansion of existing operations. Furthermorme pvay not realize the benefits of an acquisitiotheaway we
anticipated when we first entered the transactay. of these risks could adversely impact our rssof operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Competition and market conditions may adversely affect our operating results.

In certain markets, our competitors are larger tand may have greater access to financial, tdofpical and other
resources. As a result, competitors may be bdblerta adapt to changes in conditions in our indesst fluctuations in
the costs of raw materials or changes in globahecoc conditions. Competitors may also be abletmduce new
products with enhanced features that may causelméeé the demand and sales of our products. dmaion of
customers or competitors, or economic problemsusfaners in our markets
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could cause a loss of market share for our prodptise downward pressure on prices, result in gaymelays or non-
payment, or declining plant utilization rates. Téesks could adversely impact our results of ojana, financial
position and cash flows.

We could be adversely affected by technological changesin our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technoloboagabilities, develop and market products andiegippons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succlysafticipate or respond to technological changes cost effectiv
and timely manner will likely impact our future lisss success. We compete on a number of frortgding, but not
limited to, product quality and performance. In tdase of some of our products, our competitordaager than us and
may have greater access to financial, technologicdlother resources. Our inability to maintaiechhological edge,
innovate and improve our products could cause bngein the demand and sales of our products, dmdraely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadlcflows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant customers may have a material adverse impact on our results of
operations.

Our principal customers are major multinational atate-owned oil companies, and large multinatiomahufacturers
of personal care and household products. Thesatinelsiare characterized by a concentration olvddege
participants. The loss of a significant customanaderial reduction in demand by a significant oosgr or termination
or nonfenewal of a significant customer contract couldesisely impact our results of operations, finanp@gition anc
cash flows.

We may be required to make additional cash contributionsto our United Kingdom defined benefit pension plan and
recognize greater pension charges.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value anePted Benefit Obligation (“PBO9f our United Kingdom define
benefit pension plan are dependent on actual retuinvestments as well as our assumptions in cegphehe discount
rate, annual member mortality rates, future returmssets and future inflation. A change in anyafrteese
assumptions could impact the plan asset value, &Rpension charge recognized in the income statethéuture
plan investment returns prove insufficient to mfe@ire obligations, or should future obligationsriease due to
actuarial factors or changes in pension legislativen we may be required to make additional casitributions. Thes
events could adversely impact our results of opmraf financial position and cash flows.

Our success depends on our management team and other key personnel, the loss of any of whom could disrupt our
business operations.

Our future success will depend in substantial parthe continued services of our senior manageriéetloss of the
services of one or more of our key executive pareboould affect implementation of our businessi@ad result in
reduced profitability. Our future success

11
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also depends on the continued ability to attratgin and motivate highly-qualified technical, sadad support staff.
We cannot guarantee that we will be able to retamkey personnel or attract or retain qualifiedspanel in the future
If we are unsuccessful in our efforts in this refyainis could adversely impact our results of opena, financial
position and cash flows.

Continuing adverse global economic conditions could materially affect our current and future businesses.

The ongoing concern about the stability of globatkets generally and the strength of counterpairtiparticular has
led many lenders and institutional investors taoeg or cease to provide, credit to businesses@amslimers. These
factors have led to a substantial and continuirggesdese in spending by businesses and consumera,amcesponding
decrease in global infrastructure spending whialiccaffect our business. Global economic factofsciihg our
business include, but are not limited to, geopritinstability in some markets, miles driven bggenger and
commercial vehicles, legislation to control fuebfjty, impact of alternative propulsion systemsysuumer demand for
premium personal care and cosmetic products, drahdigas drilling and production rates. The aviky, cost and
terms of credit have been, and may continue tatbegrsely affected by the foregoing factors anddre@rcumstances
have produced, and may in the future result ilguiltd markets and wider credit spreads, which makenit difficult or
more expensive for us to obtain credit. Turbulenale U.S. and international markets and econgraiggneral
restricted environment for credit, and a prolondedline in business and consumer spending couleraely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadlcflows.

An information technology system failure may adversely affect our business.

We rely on information technology systems to trahsarr business. Like other global companies, we hixom time tc
time, experienced threats to our data and systaliugh we have implemented administrative anéineal controls
and take protective actions to reduce the riskybecincidents and protect our information techgglaand we
endeavor to modify such procedures as circumstamagsnt, such measures may be insufficient togrephysical
and electronic break-ins, cyber-attacks or otheusy breaches to our computer systems. Whileate dve have not
experienced a material cyber security breach, yatems, processes, software and network still neayunerable to
internal or external security breaches, computerses, malware or other malicious code or cybaekjtcatastrophic
events, power interruptions, hardware failureg, firatural disasters, human error, system failamelsdisruptions, and
other events that could have security consequece$ an information technology failure or disroptcould prevent
us from being able to process transactions withcagtomers, operate our manufacturing facilitiesl, properly report
those transactions in a timely manner. A significanotracted information technology system failoray result in a
material adverse effect on our results of operatifinancial position and cash flows.

In 2014 we continued with the process of developngnew, company-wide, information system platfovkfe
implemented the new platform at the majority of bu®. sites in the third
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guarter of 2013. Our next phase of implementatimiudes the majority of reporting units outsidehe U.S. and is
planned for the fourth quarter of 2015. Implemeatatosts may be more than projected or the negrnmdtion system
may not perform as expected, either of which caaldersely impact our results of operations, finangosition and
cash flows.

We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the &h& other jurisdictions. Significant judgmentasgjuired in
estimating our worldwide provision for income taxisthe ordinary course of our business, therarany transactior
and calculations where the ultimate tax determamaits uncertain. Although we believe our tax estemare reasonab
any final determination pursuant to tax audits ang related litigation could be materially diffetéa what is reflected
in our consolidated financial statements. Shouldtar authority disagree with our estimates anémeine any
additional tax liabilities for us, this could adsely impact our results of operations, financiaipon and cash flows.

We are exposed to fluctuationsin foreign currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect our results of
operations.

We generate a portion of our revenues and incuesmperating costs in currencies other than the dbfar. In
addition, the financial position and results of gie®ns of some of our overseas subsidiaries g@ted in the relevant
local currency and then translated to U.S. dobartse applicable currency exchange rate for imgtus our
consolidated financial statements. Fluctuatiorth@se currency exchange rates affect the recoededslof our assets
and liabilities, and our results of operations.

The primary exchange rate fluctuation exposuretave are with the European Union euro, British mgbsterling and
Swiss franc. Exchange rates between these curseastethe U.S. dollar have fluctuated significairilyecent years
and may continue to do so. We cannot accuratelyigirauiture exchange rate variability among theseencies or
relative to the U.S. dollar. While we take stepsi@nage currency exchange rate exposure, inclediteging into
hedging transactions, we cannot eliminate all ewpoto future exchange rate variability. These arge risks could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuationsin the cost of our raw materials and energy could adversely affect our profit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amagynin our manufacturing and blending processesWbf these
raw materials are derived from petrochemical-bdsedstocks which can be subject to periods of rapdisignificant
cost instability. These fluctuations in cost carchased by political instability in oil producingtions and elsewhere,
other factors influencing global supply and demahthese materials, over which we have little orcoatrol. We use
long-term contracts (generally with fixed or forratdased costs) and advance bulk purchases to i&ipecavailability
and continuity of supply, and to manage the riskasft increases. We have entered into hedginggenaants for
certain utilities and raw
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materials, but do not typically enter into hedgargangements for all raw materials, chemicals ergyncosts. If the
costs of raw materials, chemicals or energy in@easd we are not able to pass on these cost sas¢a our
customers, then profit margins and cash flows foparating activities would be adversely impactédaw material
costs increase significantly, then our need forkivigy capital could increase. Any of these risksld@dversely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadfcflows.

Trendsin oil prices affect the level of exploration, development, and production activity of our customers and the
demand for our services and products, which could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Demand for our services and products in our odfigbecialties business is particularly sensitivéh&level of
exploration, development, and production activityamd the corresponding capital spending by ampanies. The
level of exploration, development, and productiotivity is directly affected by trends in oil prisewhich historically
have been volatile and are likely to continue tavblatile. Prices for oil are subject to large tluations in response to
relatively minor changes in the supply of and dednfan oil, market uncertainty, and a variety of@tleconomic facto
that are beyond our control. Even the perceptidomjerterm lower oil prices by oil companies can simijaeduce o
defer major expenditures given the long-term natfiraany large-scale development projects. Faetfiesting the
prices of oil include the level of supply and dewhdor oil, governmental regulations, including faicies of
governments regarding the exploration for and pectidn and development of their oil reserves, weatiaditions and
natural disasters, worldwide political, militaryncdaeconomic conditions, the level of oil productimynnon-OPEC
countries and the available excess production dgpaithin OPEC, the cost of producing and delimgrioil and
potential acceleration of the development of alitue fuels. Any prolonged reduction in oil pricedl depress the
immediate levels of exploration, development, aratipction activity which could adversely impact oesults of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

A disruption in the supply of raw materials or transportation services would have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations.

Although we try to anticipate problems with suppla raw materials or transportation services hiding certain
inventories of strategic importance, any signiftodisruption in either area could affect our abitid obtain raw
materials or transportation services at affordabls, if at all, which could adversely impact oesults of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant stockholders may have a material adverse impact on our stock price.

Approximately 55% of our common stock is held by stiockholders. A decision by any of these stoatkéd to sell all
or a significant part of its holding, or a suddemupexpected disposition of our stock, could resué significant
decline in our stock price which could in turn acbedy impact our ability to access equity marketschy in turn could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.
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We face risks related to our foreign operations that may adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and operate in certaintaesrwith political and economic instability, imcling the Middle
East, Northern Africa, Asia-Pacific, Eastern Eurape South America regions. Our international ojj@na are subject
to numerous international business risks includmg,not limited to, geopolitical and economic cibioahs, risk of
expropriation, import and export restrictions, exagie controls, national and regional labor strikégh or unexpected
taxes, government royalties and restrictions oatreggion of earnings or proceeds from liquidateseds of overseas
subsidiaries. Any of these could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position andicliows.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our future performance and cash flows.

Failure to maintain or protect our intellectual peaty rights may result in the loss of valuablentemlogies, or us havir
to pay other companies for infringing on their Irgetual property rights. Measures taken by usrtaget our
intellectual property may be challenged, invalidat@rcumvented or rendered unenforceable. We rsayface patent
infringement claims from our competitors which nragult in substantial litigation costs, claims éiamages or a
tarnishing of our reputation even if we are sucitess defending against these claims, which mayseaour customers
to switch to our competitors. Any of these evemisid adversely impact our results of operatiomsricial position an
cash flows.

Our products are subject to extensive government scrutiny and regulation.

We are subject to regulation by federal, stategllaod foreign government authorities. In some gase need
government approval of our products, manufactupiragesses and facilities before we may sell cegeaducts. Many
products are required to be registered with the Brfvironmental Protection Agency and with comperaovernment
agencies in the European Union and elsewhere. @also subject to ongoing reviews of our produn@nufacturing
processes and facilities by government authoriied, must also produce product data and comply datailed
regulatory requirements.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certagwrproducts we must, among other things, demoedinat the produ
is appropriate and effective for its intended usesl, that we are capable of manufacturing the mtaduaccordance
with applicable regulations. This approval process be costly, time consuming, and subject to ucipated and
significant delays. We cannot be sure that necesgarovals will be granted on a timely basis aalatAny delay in
obtaining, or any failure to obtain or maintaingsl approvals would adversely affect our abilitintooduce new
products and to generate income from those prodNets or stricter laws and regulations may be ohikeed that could
result in additional compliance costs and prevemlobit the development, manufacture, distribntand sale of our
products. Such outcomes could adversely impactesuits of operations, financial position and céshs.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose substantial costs on us.

We are from time to time involved in legal procewgs that result from, and are incidental to, thedct of our
business, including employee and product liabdlgims. Although we
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maintain insurance to protect us against a vagetfaims, if our insurance coverage is not adegtmtover such
claims, then our results of operations, financ@ifpon and cash flows could be adversely affedtac are required to
pay directly for such liabilities.

Environmental liabilities and compliance costs could have a substantial adverse impact on our results of operations.

We operate a number of manufacturing sites andwbsgct to extensive federal, state, local anddarenvironmental,
health and safety laws and regulations, includnogé relating to emissions to the air, dischargésnd and water, and
the generation, handling, treatment and disposhbpérdous waste and other materials on these Bigeesperate under
numerous environmental permits and licenses, mamizh require periodic notification and renewahich is not
automatic. New or stricter laws and regulationddancrease our compliance burden or costs andraelyeaffect our
ability to develop, manufacture, blend, market anpply products.

Our operations, and the operations of prior owpnéiur sites, pose the risk of environmental comtation which may
result in fines or criminal sanctions being imposedequire significant amounts in remediation papts.

We anticipate that certain manufacturing sites segse production over time and on closure, williregsafely
decommissioning and some environmental remediafiba.extent of our obligations will depend on thaufe use of
the sites that are affected and the environmesed in effect at the time. We currently have made@mmissioning
and remediation provision in our consolidated fitiahstatements based on current known obligatianscipated plar
for sites and existing environmental laws. If themere to be unexpected or unknown contaminatidheste sites, or
future plans for the sites or environmental lawande, then current provisions may prove inadequdteh could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

Theinability of counterparties to meet their contractual obligations could have a substantial adverse impact on our
results of operations.

We sell products to oil refineries and chemical pames throughout the world. Credit limits, ongoangdit evaluation
and account monitoring procedures are used to neritvad debt risk. Collateral is not generally ieggh We have in
place a credit facility with a syndicate of ban®ée use derivatives, including interest rate swapsymodity swaps ar
foreign currency forward exchange contracts, inntenal course of business to manage market Mgkesenter into
derivative instruments with a diversified groupnedjor financial institutions in order to manage éx@osure to non-
performance of such instruments.

We remain subject to market and credit risks iniclgdhe ability of counterparties to meet their ttaotual obligations
and the potential non-performance of counterpattieteliver contracted commaodities or servicehatdontracted
price. The inability of counterparties to meet tlegintractual obligations could have an adversehpn our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.
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Theterms of our credit facility may restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to otherwise expand our
business.

Our revolving credit facility contains restrictieégauses which may limit our activities, and operadl and financial
flexibility. We may not be able to borrow under tredit facility if an event of default under tregms of the facility
occurs. An event of default under the credit faciincludes a material adverse change to our gsgetsations or
financial condition, and certain other events. Thetlit facility also contains a number of restoos that limit our
ability, among other things, and subject to cerliamited exceptions, to incur additional indebtestiepledge our assets
as security, guarantee obligations of third partiegke investments, undergo a merger or consalatiispose of
assets or materially change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility requires us to rheertain financial ratios, including ratios basednet debt to EBITDA
and net interest expense to EBITDA. Net debt, metrest expense and EBITDA are non-GAAP measurbguodity
defined in the credit facility. Our ability to metiese financial covenants depends upon the fetureessful operating
performance of the business. If we fail to complthviinancial covenants, we would be in default enthe credit
facility and the maturity of our outstanding debtitd be accelerated unless we were able to obtaivens from our
lenders. If we were found to be in default underdredit facility, it could adversely impact ousudts of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Our businessis subject to the risk of manufacturing disruptions, the occurrence of which would adversely affect our
results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical metwifag, blending, storage, handling and transpioriancluding
fires, labor strikes or slowdowns, explosions, nagotal failure in scheduled downtime, extreme wegttransportatio
interruptions, remediation, chemical spills andrslease or discharge of toxic or hazardous subssaihese hazards
could result in loss of life, property damage, eowmental contamination and temporary or permamamtufacturing
cessation. Any of these factors could adversehachpur results of operations, financial positiod @ash flows.

Domestic or international natural disasters or terrorist attacks may disrupt our operations, decrease the demand for
our products or otherwise have an adverse impact on our business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsasicis, may be at greater risk of future terratistcks than other
possible targets in the U.S., the United Kingdom #imoughout the world. Extraordinary events sushatural
disasters may negatively affect local economieduding those of our customers or suppliers. Thmioence of such
events cannot be predicted, but they can adveirs@lstct economic conditions in general and in o@cs markets.
The resulting damage from such events could inclost of life, property damage or site closure. Ahyhese matters
could adversely impact our results of operatiomgrfcial position and cash flows.
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ltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshiswn in the following table. Each of these prapsris owned by
the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location Reporting Segment Operations

Englewood, Colorad®) Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals Corporate Headquarters
Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol

Newark, Delawar® Fuel Specialtie Research & Developme

High Point, North Carolina Performance Chemicals Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

Salisbury, North Carolina Performance Chemicals Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

Crowley, Louisiand® Fuel Specialtie Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

Chatsworth, Californi Performance Chemica Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

Oklahoma City, Oklahom Fuel Specialtie Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

Midland, Texas Fuel Specialtie Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

Pleasanton, Tex: Fuel Specialtie Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

The Woodlands, Houston, Tex Fuel Specialtie Sales/Administration/Laborato

Williston, North Dakote Fuel Specialtie Warehouse/Sale

Casper, Wyomin(@ Fuel Specialtie Warehoust

Lovington, New Mexicc® Fuel Specialtie Warehoust

Brazos County, Tex&®) Fuel Specialtie Warehouse/Distributio

Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and European Headquarters

Octane Additives Business Teams

Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development
Fuel Technology Cent

Singapore, Singapofg Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals Asia-Pacific Headquarters
Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol

Widnes, United Kingdom Performance Chemicals Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

Herne, Germang Fuel Specialties Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

Leuna, Germany Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

Vernon, France Fuel Specialties Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme

Milan, Italy @ Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemi Sales/Administratiol

Zug, Switzerlan(® Octane Additive: Sales/Administratiol

Moscow, Russi{®) Fuel Specialtie Sales/Administratiol

Itajai, Brazil® Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemi Sales/Administratiol

(1) Leased propert
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Manufacturing Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreemestsu#ficient to meet current sales levels. Opegatittes of the plan
are generally flexible and varied with product rand normal sales swings. We believe that all offacitities are
maintained to appropriate levels and in good opegatondition though there remains an ongoing rieedapital
investment.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

Legal matters

While we are involved from time to time in claimsdalegal proceedings that result from, and aredewtal to, the
conduct of our business including business and centiad litigation, employee and product liabilithaens, there are t
material pending legal proceedings to which the Gamy or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or bfck any of their
property is subject. It is possible, however, #ratdverse resolution of an unexpectedly large eambsuch
individual claims or proceedings could in the aggte have a material adverse effect on resultp@fations for a
particular year or quarter.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASDAer the symbol “IOSP.” As of February 11, 201&réhwere
1,013 registered holders of the common stock. dHeviing table shows the closing high and low psioé our
common stock for each of the last eight quarters:

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2014

High $46.0: $45.8¢ $43.1: $45.57

Low $41.0] $41.1C $35.9( $35.5¢
2013

High $44.2¢ $44.01 $46.6¢ $48.71

Low $35.27 $39.9¢ $40.61 $42.5¢
Dividends

The Company declared the following cash dividemmigtie year ended December 31, 2014

Date declared Stockholders of Recort Date Paid Amount per share
November 3, 201 November 17, 201 November 26, 201 $ 0.2¢
May 5, 2014 May 19, 201. May 28, 201. $ 0.27
The Company declared the following cash dividendtie year ended December 31, 2013:
Date declared Stockholders of Recort Date Paid Amount per share
November 4, 201 November 18, 201 November 27, 20 $ 0.5C

There are no restrictions on our ability to decldikedends and the Company is allowed to repurcitasavn common
stock as long as we are in compliance with thenfinel covenants in the Company’s credit facility.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
There were no unregistered sales of equity seesrituring the fourth quarter of 2014.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On November 11, 2014, the Company commenced aetiscary stock repurchase program in accordande thve
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Rule 10b5-1. Urnlderterms of the program, in the fourth quarte2@f4, the
Company repurchased 137,865 of Innospec stock atenage price of $43.48 delivering a $6.0 milliepayment to
shareholders. Repurchased common stock is hetdasuty stock unless re-issued under equity conagensplans.
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The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiamtaioed in the
table under the heading “Equity Compensation Plan#fie Proxy Statement is incorporated hereindbgrence. The
current limit for the total amount of shares whaamn be issued or awarded under the Company’s tingk ®ption plans
is 2,640,000.

Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total netioistockholders on the common stock of the Catjpamn, S&P
500 Index, NASDAQ Composite Index and Russell 2b@@x since December 31, 2009, assuming a $106timext
and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Ing. va &P 500, NASDACQ Composite and Russell 2000 Indices
Total Return to Stockholders since December 31, 204G
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Value of S100 Investment made December

2009 201100 2011 2002 3 2014

=@ [mnospec Ine, == 5&P 500  —#—=NASDAQ Composite Foussell 2000

Value of $100 Investment made December 31, 2009*

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Innospec Inc 100.0¢ 202.1¢ 278.2( 361.6% 489.8¢ 458.4(
S&P 500 Inde» 100.0C 112.7¢ 112.7¢ 127.9C 165.7¢ 184.6¢
NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.0C 116.9. 114.8. 133.07 184.0¢ 208.7:
Russell 2000 Inde 100.0C 125.3. 118.47 135.8. 186.07 192.6:

* Excludes purchase commissions.
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Item 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(in millions, except financial ratios, share and pe
share data)
Summary of performance:
Net sales
Operating incom:
Income before income tax
Income taxe:
Net income
Net income attributable to Innospec |
Net cash provided by operating activit
Financial position at year end:
Total asset
Long-term debt (including current portio
Cash, cash equivalents, and s-term investment
Stockholder equity
Financial ratios:

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. as a peage of sale

Effective tax rate as a percente®
Current ratic®
Share data:
Earnings per share attributable to Innospec
— Basic
— Diluted
Dividend paid per shai
Shares outstanding (basic, thousai
— At year enc
— Average during yee
Closing stock prict
— High
- Low
— At year enc

(1) The effective tax rate is calculated as incomedasea percentage of income before income ti

(2) Currentratio is defined as current assets divldedurrent liabilities
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2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$ 960.¢ $ 818.¢ $ 776.2 $ 774.2 $ 683.2
112.F 90.€ 96. 472 67.1
110.¢ 92. 93.: 50. 65.€
(26.6) (15.0) (26.4) (3.2) 4.z
84.1 77.€ 66.¢ 47.1 69.
84.1 77.8 66.¢ 471 69.¢
106.: 61.2 61.c 34.7 58.2
999.¢ 794.7 579.4 568.¢ 549.
139.4 148.( 30.C 35. 47.(
46.: 86. 27.F 81.C 111.

$ 515.¢ $ 409.2 $ 317.C $ 343.1 $ 300.7
8. 9. 8.€ 6.1 10.2
24.2 16.2 28.: 6.2 (6.€)
1. 2.€ 2.C 2.2 2.

$ 3.4¢ $ 3.2¢ $ 2.8¢ $ 2.0 $ 2.9¢
$ 3.3¢ $ 3.2 $ 281 $ 1.9z $ 2.8
$ 0.5¢ $ 0.5 $ 2.0 $ 0.0 $ 0.0C
24,29 24,34’ 23,33: 23,04’ 23,70:
24,39 23,65 23,18' 23,56¢ 23,75¢
$ 46.0¢ $ 48.71 $ 34.4¢ $ 37.6¢ $ 22.4C
$ 35.5¢ $ 35.27 $ 25.5¢ $ 19.1¢€ $ 8.6¢
$ 42.7( $ 46.2: $ 34.4¢ $ 28.07 $ 20.4(¢
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions, except per share datg Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2014
Net sales $220.7 $221.: $228.2 $290.7
Gross profi 65.7 68.¢€ 73.€ 94.1
Operating incom 18.C 25.2 25.2 44.C
Net income® 16.€ 18.5 20.¢ 27.C
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 20.C $ 12.¢ $ 25.2 $ 47
Per common shar
Earnings basic $ 0.6¢ $ 0.7¢ $ 0.8t $ 1.14
— diluted $ 0.6¢ $ 0.7t $ 0.8 $ 1.11
2013
Net sales $199.¢ $185.( $192.¢ $241.¢
Gross profi 63.¢ 59.4 57.¢ 74.€
Operating incom: 22.2 22.5 19.5 26.€
Net income® 18.C 17.1 14.C 28.7
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 17.C $ 19.7 $ (5.9 $ 29t
Per common shar
Earnings- basic $ 0.77 $ 0.7¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 1.1¢
— diluted $ 0.7t $ 0.71 $ 0.5¢ $ 1.17
NOTES
(1) Special items, before tax, during the year endeckBer 31, 2014 comprised the followil
First Second Third Fourth
(in millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2014
Adjustment to fair value of contingent considerat $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 1¢
Foreign currency exchange gains/(los: 1.¢ (0.8 1.C (0.9
Adjustment of income tax provisiol 2.2 0.C 1.€ (2.0)
Acquisitior-related cost $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (1.9 $ (0.5
(2) Special items, before tax, during the year endeckBéer 31, 2013 comprised the followil
First Second Third Fourth
(in millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2013
75t anniversary employee recogniti $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (1.6
Foreign currency exchange gains/(los: 1.C (1.0 (0.8 4.¢
Adjustment of income tax provisiol 0.C 0.C (0.7) (0.2
Acquisitior-related cost $ 0.C $ (0.2 $ (1.9 $ (0.9
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated financial statements and the rtbteto.
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Our business performance in 2014 grew in line withexpectations, as we delivered on our strategxpand our
oilfield specialties business. Sales in our grobadkinesses of Fuel Specialties and Personal Ciéeeteel the strength
of our product portfolio and research and develaprpégeline in these markets, while the declin®gtane Additives
was in line with the final stages of transitionutdleaded gasoline.

We have managed our investments in capital equipmemking capital and recruitment of additionalllekl personnel
in line with these market factors. Our capital peog and expenses during 2014 included the contimuedtment in a
new information system platform, which we expecadal value to our business in future years. D24, we
completed the acquisition of Independence Oilfteebcialties LLC to further build out our presencéhis market.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finandialetnents includes a summary of the significanbaeting policies
and methods used in the preparation of the corselidfinancial statements.

Contingencies

We are subiject to legal, regulatory and other grdrgys and claims. The Company discloses informattmcerning
contingent liabilities in respect of these claimsl @roceedings for which an unfavorable outcommase than remote
and the potential loss could materially impact @sults of operations, financial position and ciéslvs. We recognize
within selling, general and administrative experigaslities for these claims and proceedings whes probable that
the Company has incurred a loss based on an umfialeooutcome and the amount of the loss can benabky
estimated and we endeavor to fairly present, inucation with the disclosures of these mattersunapnsolidated
financial statements, management’s view of our syp® We review outstanding claims and proceedwitisexternal
counsel as appropriate to assess probability andates of loss. When the reasonable estimateasge, the
recognized liability will be the best estimate witlthe range. If no amount in the range is a betsémate than any
other amount then the minimum amount of the ranijédoe/ recognized.

We reevaluate our assessments each quarter or as nesigaifeccant information becomes available. Theauattost o
ultimately resolving a claim or proceeding may lgm#gicantly different from the amount of the recoged liability. In
addition, because it is not permissible
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to recognize a liability until the loss is both pable and estimable, in some cases there may biicrent time to
recognize a liability prior to the actual incurrenaf the loss (upon verdict and judgment at tfa@l example, or in the
case of a quickly negotiated settlement).

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2014 amdunt&34.1 million and relate principally to ouldsmere Port
site in the United Kingdom. We recognize environtakhabilities when they are probable and costsloba reasonably
estimated, and asset retirement obligations wheretis a legal obligation and costs can be rea$peabmated. The
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future expected costs,angdlg with
environmental legislation in the countries in whithperates or has operated in. The Company vieevsosts of
vacating our Ellesmere Port site as contingent upand when it vacates the site because there esent intention
do so. The Company has further determined thatfaltlee uncertain product life of TEL particulanythe market for
aviation gasoline and other products being manufadton site, there are uncertainties as to thiegtibty and timing
of the expected costs. Such uncertainties have dm®sidered in estimating the provision.

Pensions

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension pievering a number of its current and former elygds in the
United Kingdom. The Company also has other mucHlemaension arrangements in the U.S. and oversesishe
obligations under those plans are not material. Jiiéed Kingdom plan is closed to future serviceraal, but has a
large number of deferred and current pensioners.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value anePted Benefit Obligation (“PBQO”) are dependentaatual return
on investments as well as our assumptions in régihéice discount rate, annual member mortalitgsafuture return
on assets and future inflation. A change in anyarteese assumptions could impact the plan asdeéyPBO and
pension charge recognized in the income staterBeich changes could adversely impact our resultpeifations and
financial position. For example, a 0.25% changeediscount rate assumption would change the PBO b
approximately $29 million and the net pension drémi 2015 by approximately $0.3 million. A 0.25%ange in the
level of price inflation assumption would change BBO by approximately $22 million and the net pamsredit for
2015 would not be significantly changed.

Further information is provided in Note 9 of thetBl®to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Deferred Tax and Uncertain Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2014, no valuation allowance isiregl against our foreign tax credit carry forwandthin deferred
tax as management believes that all the foreigretadit carry forwards can be utilized in futureipds prior to their
expiration.
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No deferred taxes have been provided for on themitted earnings of our overseas subsidiaries yasaarbasis
differences relating to investments in these ogseibsidiaries are considered to be permanentation. We have r
current intention to repatriate past or future gey® of our overseas subsidiaries and considetlieate earnings have
been reinvested overseas. If circumstances watleaioge that would cause these earnings to be isgpdtan addition:
U.S. tax liability could be incurred, and we con@nto monitor this position.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves éwating uncertainties in the application of complax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax auditues based on our estimate of whether, and thetewterhich, additional
taxes will be required. If we ultimately determihat payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weesesthe liability
and recognize a tax benefit during the period inctvive determine that the liability is no longecassary.

We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thatmore likely than not that our positions wiét bustained, based on
technical merits, when challenged by the taxingpauities. To the extent that we prevail in matterswhich liabilities
have been established, or are required to pay asauexcess of our liabilities, our effective tate in a given period
may be materially affected. An unfavorable taxleetent may require cash payments and result in@ease in our
effective tax rate in the year of resolution. Adaable tax settlement may be recognized as a rieduatour effective
tax rate in the year of resolution. We report iestrand penalties related to uncertain income ¢akipns as income
taxes. For additional information regarding undertacome tax positions see Note 10 of the NotdakeaConsolidated
Financial Statements.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting requires watecognize the assets acquired and liabilitisarasd at their
acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is measussdhe excess of consideration transferred oveadqaisition date ne
fair values of the assets acquired and the liadsliassumed.

The measurement of the fair values of assets aajaimd liabilities assumed requires considerallgment. Although
independent appraisals may be used to assist ohetieemination of the fair values of certain assets liabilities, those
determinations are usually based on significamtnegés provided by management, such as forecasthuevor profit. It
determining the fair value of intangible assetsirmome approach is generally used and may incatpdhe use of a
discounted cash flow method. In applying the disted cash flow method, the estimated future cashsfland residual
values for each intangible asset are discountadot@sent value using a discount rate appropodateet business being
acquired. These cash flow projections are basadammagement’s estimates of economic and market tomsli
including revenue growth rates, operating margsapjtal expenditures and working capital requiretsien
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While we use our best estimates and assumptioparasf the process to value assets acquired abilities assumed
the acquisition date, our estimates are inherembertain and subject to refinement. During thesueament period,
which occurs before finalization of the purchaseeallocation, changes in assumptions and estgriagt result in
adjustments to the fair values of assets acquinddiabilities assumed will have a correspondinfgetfto goodwill.
Subsequent adjustments will impact our consolidatatéments of income.

Goodwill

The Company’s reporting units, the level at whidodwill is tested for impairment, are consisterttwvthe reportable
segments. The components in each segment (inclypdatdycts, markets and competitors) have similanemic
characteristics and the segments, therefore, teHedowest level at which operations and casigloan be sufficient
distinguished, operationally and for financial repw purposes, from the rest of the Company. Tom@any tests
goodwill annually for impairment, or between ye#rsvents occur or circumstances change which stggat an
impairment may have occurred.

The Company performs its annual goodwill testespect of Fuel Specialties and Performance Chesrésat
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairticharge the fair values of the reporting segmard estimated
using an after-tax cash flow methodology based anagement’s best available estimates at that Tilme key
assumptions underpinning these calculations inclutige revenue growth, gross margins and the Cogipaveighted
average cost of capital. At December 31, 2014 vae#229.4 million and $46.7 million of goodwill reilag to our Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals segmenpeatdgely. Our annual impairment tests as of suatie chdicated n
impairment because the estimated fair values afeglmeporting segments substantially exceeded tindrog values.

While we believe our assumptions for impairmentstese reasonable, they are subjective judgmemdisit & possible
that variations in any of the assumptions may tesuhaterially different calculations of impairnmtesharges, if any.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Other Intangible Assets (Net of Amortization)

At December 31, 2014 we had $80.8 million of propegslant and equipment and $181.1 million of otimangible
assets (net of amortization), that are discussé&tbtes 5 and 7 of the Notes to the Consolidatedraial Statements,
respectively. These long-lived assets relate tofadur reporting segments and are being amortizetepreciated
straight-line over periods of up to 16 years irpees of the other intangible assets and up to 25sy@ respect of the
property, plant and equipment.

We continually assess the markets and productedela these long-lived assets, as well as theiciBp carrying
values, and have concluded that these carryingegsahnd amortization and depreciation periods, irea@propriate.
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We also test these long-lived assets for any palentpairment when events occur or circumstantesmge which
suggest that an impairment may have occurred. Tilypss of events or changes in circumstances éoaldde, but are
not limited to:

* introduction of new products with enhanced featlesur competitors

* loss of, material reduction in purchases by, otr-renewal of a contract by, a significant custon

» prolonged decline in business or consumer spen

» sharp and unexpected rise in raw material, cherorcahergy costs; ar

* new laws or regulations inhibiting the developmemanufacture, distribution or sale of our produ

In order to facilitate this testing the Companyupse together assets at the lowest possible lev&lticch cash flow
information is available. Undiscounted future cfetvs expected to result from the asset groupsanepared with the
carrying value of the assets and, if such cashdlake lower, an impairment loss may be recognizkd.amount of the
impairment loss is the difference between thevialue and the carrying value of the assets. Fduregaare determined
using post-tax cash flows discounted at the Compamgighted average cost of capital. If events occu
circumstances change it may cause a reductionriodseover which these long-lived assets are ameattor
depreciated, or result in a non-cash impairmesat pdrtion of their carrying value. A reduction imartization or
depreciation periods would have no effect on cashs.

In 2014 we continued with the process of develogimgew, company-wide, information system platfofime platform
provider is well established in the market. Thelengentation is a phased, risk-managed, site de@ayand follows a
multistage user acceptance program with the egigiatform providing a fallback position. We implented the new
platform at the majority of our U.S. sites in the&d quarter of 2013. Our next phase of implemeamaincludes the
majority of reporting units outside of the U.S tdmally developed software and other costs capatalat December 3
2014 were $27.8 million (2013 — $19.5 million). Amortization expense of $3.8 million was recognime?014 (2013
— $1.0 million) in selling, general and administvatexpenses.

28



Table of Contents

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table provides operating income byaeing segment:

(in millions)

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie
Performance Chemica
Octane Additive:

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie
Performance Chemica
Octane Additive:

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie

Performance Chemica

Octane Additive:

Pension credit/(charg

Corporate cost

Adjustment to fair value of contingent considerat
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good

Total operating incom
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2014 compared to €&l 2013:

(in millions, except ratios 2014 2013 Change

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $682.2 $ 567.¢ $114.¢ +20%
Performance Chemica 223.t 192.¢ 31.1 +16%
Octane Additive: 55.2 59.C (3.9 -6%

$ 960.¢ $ 818.¢ $142.1 +17%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $219.( $181.1 $ 37.¢ +21%
Performance Chemica 54 .4 46.¢ 8.1 +17%
Octane Additives 28.€ 27.€ 0.8 +3%

$ 302.( $ 255.2 $ 46.¢ +18%

Gross margin (%):

Fuel Specialtie 32.1 31.9 +0.2
Performance Chemica 24.3 24.1 +0.2

Octane Additive: 51.8 47.1 +4.7

Aggregate 31.4 31.2 +0.2

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $(114.€) $ (88.4Y) $(26.2 +30%
Performance Chemica (28.€) (22.7) (6.2 +27%
Octane Additive: (6.0 (6.3 0.2 -5%
Pension credit/(charg (3.3 (2.3 (2.0 +43%
Corporate cost (38.7) (43.€) 4.€ -11%

$(191.9 $(163.9 $(28.)  +17%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabim
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC AvTel Total
Volume +7 -12 -5 +24 -3
Price and product mi +6 +6 -4 -9 +4
Exchange rate 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisitions +53 0 0 0 +1¢

+66 -6 -9 +1E +2C

Americas saw an increase in volumes as a reshigber demand, while benefiting from an improved@and produc
mix. Acquisitions in the Americas, relating to Batdéin and Independence, generated additional saigsared to the
prior year. EMEA volumes decreased from the premairydue to weaker trading conditions and the imphct
government

30



Table of Contents

sanctions related to Russia, partly offset by gorawed price and product mix. Volumes were loweAB8PAC due to
the loss of a contract in 2013 which offset incegagnderlying volumes, together with an adverseepaind product mi
as a result of lower sales of higher margin proslugtvTel volumes were higher due to the timinglapments to
customers as opposed to any change in the longeetiook for that market, while the price and proidonix was
negatively impacted by an adverse customer mix.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 0.2 percentage poiimerily reflected a mix of increased sales froighler
margin products and a higher margin contributi@mfrour oilfield specialties acquisitions.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 30%, or $26.2 millwas due to $20.8 million of additional costs for
the Bachman businesses; $6.3 million of additiaoalts for the Independence business; a $1.4 milicrease in bad
debt provisions, excluding recent acquisitionstlparffset by a $1.0 million decrease in personmdhted compensati
costs, primarily due to lower accruals for sharsgobhcompensation expense; a $0.8 million decreasesis for our
Strata business; and a $0.5 million decrease ier @kpenses.

Performance Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabm
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Total
Volume -4 +15 +1C +5
Price and product mi -1 -2 0 -1
Exchange rate +1 +3 +2 +2
Acquisitions +22 0 0 +1C

+18 +1€ +12 +1€

Volumes in the Americas were lower, primarily doddwer volumes in Fragrance Ingredients and foindnstrial
product partly offset by increased Personal Cahermes. Acquisitions in the Americas, relating toe@tsil and
Chemtec, generated additional sales compared faritreyear. Volumes in EMEA were higher than th®pyear,
primarily due to higher volumes in Personal Caré Eragrance Ingredients, while negatively impatig@n adverse
price and product mix. Higher volumes in ASPAC weéri@en by increases in Personal Care. All our reerkbenefited
from favorable exchange rate movements year o\aar, geiven primarily by a strengthening of the Epean Union
euro and the British pound sterling against the. dd8ar.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 0.2 percentage poiimtarily reflected a richer sales mix driven by a
greater proportion of sales from our Personal @Gaaeket, including our Chemsil business.
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Operating expenses: the year on year increase%f @7$6.1 million, was primarily in respect of $5nillion of
additional costs for our Chemsil and Chemtec bissieg, and a $0.9 million increase in other cosislypdriven by
additional headcount in several locations.

Octane Additives

Net salesthe year on year decrease of 6% was primarily dule timing of shipments and declining demand wiih
one remaining customer.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 4.7 percentage passgprimarily due to favorable manufacturing
variances.

Operating expensethe year on year decrease of $0.3 million was dubké efficient management of the cost base.
Other Income Statement Captions

Pension credit/(chargeis non-cash, and was a $3.3 million net chargdi¥Zompared to $2.3 million net charge in
2013, primarily due to a higher interest cost anphojected benefit obligation.

Corporate coststhe year on year decrease of 11%, or $4.9 millielated to $2.8 million higher costs for amortinati
of the new information system platform; $1.3 miflibigher insurance claims; offset by $1.0 milliower personnel-
related compensation costs, primarily due to loagamruals for share-based compensation expensééogeith
accruals for the new cash-based long-term inceplae; the release of a $0.8 million restructugmgvision which is
no longer required; and $7.2 million lower legabfessional and other expenses.

Impairment of Octane Additives segment goodwas $0.0 million in 2014 and $1.3 million in 2018llowing the
final impairment charge in the fourth quarter o320

Other net income/(expens@ther net income of $1.8 million primarily relatexdnet gains of $3.4 million on foreign
currency forward exchange contracts, partly offse$1.6 million of losses on translation of neteasgslenominated in
non-functional currencies in our European busiredse2013, other net income of $4.1 million priharelated to
gains of $5.8 million on translation of net assteominated in non-functional currencies in ourdpean businesses,
partly offset by net foreign exchange losses oaifpr currency forward exchange contracts of $1l6ami

Interest expense, newas $3.4 million in 2014 and $1.9 million in 2013ecto the higher level of borrowing during
2014, used primarily to fund our acquisition adtivih the second half of 2013.

Income taxesthe effective tax rate was 24.2% and 16.2% in 281a2013, respectively. The effective tax rategonc
adjusted for income tax provisions and for theitapact of other discrete items, was 24.9% in 20d#mared with
15.9% in 2013. The Company believes that
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this adjusted effective tax rate, a non-GAAP finahmeasure, provides useful information to invesend may assist
them in evaluating the Company’s underlying perfance and identifying operating trends. In additmanagement
uses this non-GAAP financial measure internallgwtaluate the performance of the Company’s opersigonl for
planning and forecasting in subsequent periods.

(in millions, except ratios 2014 2013
Income before income tax $110.¢ $92.¢
Income taxe: $ 26.€ $15.C
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic 6.8 (0.2
Add back other discrete iter (6.0) 0.C
$ 27.€ $14.¢

GAAP effective tax rati 24.2% 16.2%
Adjusted effective tax rai 24.% 15.%

In addition to those mentioned above, the followliactors had a significant impact on the Compaeyfsctive tax rate
as compared to the U.S. federal income tax raB5%4:

(in millions) 2014 2013

Foreign tax rate differenti $(16.2)  $(13.¢)
Foreign income inclusior 6.C 3.€
Prior year adjustmen $ 52 $ (2.7

The impact on the effective tax rate from profisreed in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax ratemies as the
geographical mix of the Company’s profits changesryon year. In 2014, the Company’s income tax es@®enefited
to a greater degree from a proportion of its ovenalfits arising in Switzerland than in 2013. Thesulted in a $9.4
million benefit in Switzerland (2013 — $9.3 milliprin addition, there was a $7.9 million benefir@hation to the
United Kingdom (2013 — $3.9 million) and a $0.4lmait benefit in relation to Germany (2013 — $0.3liwm).

Foreign income inclusions arise each year fromagetiypes of income earned overseas being taxaiolerw).S. tax
regulations. These types of income include Suldpartome, principally from foreign based companigsan the
United Kingdom, including the associated Sectionas8gross up, and also from the income earnechyio overseas
subsidiaries taxable under the U.S. tax regim@0iv, the amount of Subpart F income and the astsacESection 78
gross up amounted to $5.0 million (2013 — $4.3iaril. The income earned by certain overseas swrgditaxable
under the U.S. tax regime increased to $2.1 milliom $1.2 million in 2013.

Foreign tax credits can fully or partially offseese incremental U.S. taxes from foreign incomkigions. The
utilization of foreign tax credits varies year ogay as this is dependent on a number of variabterawhich are
difficult to predict and may in certain years prevany offset of foreign tax credits. In total, $4nillion of foreign tax
credits were
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utilized during 2014 to partially offset the incrental U.S. taxes arising from foreign income inas in the year
(2013 — $4.2 million). Of this balance, $3.6 mitliof foreign tax credit carry forwards from earljgrars was utilized
(2013 — $2.4 million). This resulted in a decreiastne recognition of foreign tax credit carry faws of $3.6 million
during the year (2013 — a $2.4 million decrease).

Further details are given in Note 10 of the Notethe Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations — Fiscal 2013 compared to €l 2012:

(in millions, except ratios’ 2013 2012 Change

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $567.« $527.2 $ 40.2 +8%
Performance Chemica 192.¢ 179.¢ 12.¢ +7%
Octane Additive: 59.( 69.€ (10.€) -15%

$ 818.¢ $ 776.4 $ 42.4 +5%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $181.1 $ 158.7 $ 224 +14%
Performance Chemica 46.¢ 43.€ 2.k +6%
Octane Additive: 27.¢ 33.€ (6.1) -18%

$ 255.2 $ 236.4 $ 18.€ +8%

Gross margin (%):

Fuel Specialtie 31.9 30.1 +1.8
Performance Chemica 241 24.4 -0.3

Octane Additive: 47.1 48.7 -1.6

Aggregate 31.2 30.4 +0.8

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $(88.9 $(71.1) $(17.5) +24%
Performance Chemica (22.7) (19.5) (3.2 +16%
Octane Additive: (6.9 (7.9 1.€ -20%
Pension credit/(charg (2.9 (1.6 (0.7) +44%
Corporate cost (43.€) (38.6) (5.0 +13%

$(163.9 $(138.7) $(24.6)  +18%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which casephe year on year change in net sales spreassabm
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total
Volume +4 -1 +4 +2C +3
Price and product mi -4 +3 -3 +4 0
Exchange rate 0 +3 0 0 +1
Acquisitions +1C 0 0 0 +4

+1C +5 +1 +24 +8
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Americas saw an increase in volumes in 2013 asultref higher demand, offset by an adverse pnce@oduct mix
as a result of lower sales of high margin produatsjuisitions in the Americas, relating to Stratal &8achman,
generated additional sales compared to 2012. EM#é&nves remained on par with the prior year, whéeaddfiting fror
an improved price and product mix. EMEA benefiteahi favorable exchange rates driven primarily sgrangthening
of the European Union euro against the U.S. doalumes were higher in ASPAC with an adverse paicd product
mix as a result of lower sales of higher margindpiais. Avtel volumes increased due to the timingtopments to
customers as opposed to any change in the longetetiook for that market with the price and prodonix benefiting
from a favorable customer mix.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.8 percentage pafiected a richer price and product mix in EMERe t
continued benefit from higher margin sales in thrat8 business; and a favorable customer mix irh@irer margin
Avtel business; which were offset by adverse paice product mix in the Americas and ASPAC.

Operating expenseghe year on year increase of 24%, or $17.3 milheas due to $6.7 million of additional costs for
the Strata business; $3.4 million of additionaltsder the Bachman businesses; $2.4 million ofaased personnel-
related compensation costs, partly due to the higberuals for share based compensation expensndiy the rise in
our stock price compared to the same period iptloe year; $2.9 million of additional researchyd®pment and new
product testing costs; $1.4 million of additionahamissions; and a $0.5 million increase in othgremses.

Performance Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which cosephe year on year change in net sales spreassabm
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Total
Volume -3 0 +17 +1
Price and product mi +1 -1 -7 0
Exchange rate 0 +1 0 0
Acquisitions +1E 0 0 +6

+13 0 +1C +7

In the Americas volumes were lower in Fragranceddgpgnts, partly offset by an improved price analdpict mix
resulting from a retrospective price adjustmenhwitcustomer. Acquisitions in the Americas, retatm Chemsil and
Chemtec, generated additional sales compared . 2@lumes in EMEA are on a par with the prior yeambined
with a marginally weaker price and product mix nadgrance Ingredients partially offset by improvates mix in
Personal Care. ASPAC volumes moved higher but wapacted by higher sales of lower margin products.

Gross marginthe year on year decrease of 0.3 percentage peitgsted the competitive pricing pressures for
Fragrance Ingredients, partly offset by a richécgand product mix in
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our Personal Care market; together with a retrdsgeprice adjustment with a customer in the Amesiand EMEA,;
and higher margins in our Chemsil business.

Operating expenseghe year on year increase of 16%, or $3.2 millieflected $3.1 million of additional costs for our
recently acquired Chemsil and Chemtec busines8e3;illion higher personnel-related compensatiosts driven by
the rise in our stock price compared to the samiegé the prior year; and a $0.2 million decreasether expenses.

Octane Additives

Net sales decreased by 15% with decreased volumes (downrt@page points), due to the timing of shipments an
declining demand from major customers, and an irngaa@ustomer mix (up 4 percentage points), togetiithrreducec
revenue from our environmental remediation busii@se/n 1 percentage points). In both 2013 and 26425 were
focused in the Middle East and Northern Africa.

Gross margin decreased by 1.6 percentage points from 48.7%.1i®4 due to lower manufacturing volumes, partly
offset by favorable customer mix and non-recurfnegght storage costs in the prior year.

Operating expensesdecreased by $1.6 million from $7.9 million to $&8lion, due to the efficient management of
the cost base.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension credit/(charge: this non-cash charge increased to a $2.3 millidrcinarge in 2013 compared to a $1.6 millior
net charge in 2012, after revising the amortizatibactuarial losses in 2012. The increase in #echarge in 2013
primarily relates to increased actuarial net logsasg amortized to the income statement.

Corporate costs the year on year increase of 13%, or $5.0 milliefiected $8.3 million higher legal, compliance,
professional and other expenses, including acipnsielated costs of $1.8 million in 2013 compare&2.8 million in
2012; $1.8 million higher personnel-related compéins costs, primarily due to higher accruals foare based
compensation expense, driven by the rise in owkgttice compared to the same period in the peary$0.7 million
higher information technology service platform epsiffset by a $5.8 million reduction in the chafgethe long-term
incentive plan which completed at the end of 2012.

Impairment of Octane Additives segment goodwas $1.3 million in 2013 and $1.2 million in 2012.

Other net income/(expense)ther net income of $4.1 million primarily relatexigains of $5.8 million on translation of
net assets denominated in non-functional currenciesr European businesses, partly offset by oretign exchange
losses on foreign currency forward exchange cotgt@c$1.6 million. In 2012, other net expense 20&million
primarily related to losses on translation of reteds denominated in non-functional currenciesimEmropean
businesses offset by net foreign exchange gairisreign currency forward exchange contracts.
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Interest expense, ndncreased to $1.9 million in 2013 from $1.2 million2012 due to the higher level of borrowing
during 2013, used primarily to fund our acquisitawtivity.

Income taxesthe effective tax rate was 16.2% and 28.3% in 280182012, respectively. The effective tax rateegonc
adjusted for income tax provisions and for theitapact of acquisition-related funding, was 15.992013 compared
with 20.2% in 2012. The Company believes that ddigisted effective tax rate, a non-GAAP financigasure,
provides useful information to investors and masisigshem in evaluating the Company’s underlyinggrenance and
identifying operating trends. In addition, managameses this non-GAAP financial measure interntlgvaluate the
performance of the Company’s operations and fampteg and forecasting in subsequent periods.

(in millions, except ratios’ 2013 2012
Income before income tax $92.¢ $93.:
Income taxe: $15.C $26.4
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic (0.2 (0.2
Add back tax impact of acquisiti-related funding 0.C (7.4)
$14.¢ $18.¢
GAAP effective tax rati 16.2% 28.2%
Adjusted effective tax rat 15.% 20.2%

In addition to those mentioned above, the followiagtors had a significant impact on the Compaejfsctive tax rate
as compared to the U.S. federal income tax ra85ei:

(in millions) 2013 2012

Foreign tax rate differenti $(13.6€)  $(15.€
Foreign income inclusior 5.7 46.5
Foreign tax credit (1.9 (36.5)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) from United Kingdomame tax rate reduction on pensit 0.€ (0.5)
Prior year adjustmen $(27 $ (0.6

The impact on the effective tax rate from profisreed in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax ratewies as the
geographical mix of the Company’s profits changesryon year. In 2013, the Company’s income tax es@®enefited
to a lesser degree from a proportion of its ovgmadfits arising in Switzerland than in 2012. Thésulted in a $9.3
million benefit in Switzerland (2012 — $12.0 milip In addition, there was a $3.9 million bensidireélation to the
United Kingdom (2012 — $3.3 million) and a $0.3lmait benefit in relation to Germany (2012 — $0. liwm).

Foreign income inclusions arise each year fromagetiypes of income earned overseas being taxaiolerw).S. tax
regulations. These types of income include Suldpartome, principally from foreign based companigsan the
United Kingdom, including the associated Sectionas8gross up, and also from the income earnechyio overseas
subsidiaries
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taxable under the U.S. tax regime. In 2013, thewarhof Subpart F income and the associated Se¢8agross up
amounted to $4.3 million (2012 — $4.3 million). Tiheome earned by certain overseas subsidiarieblaxinder the
U.S. tax regime decreased to $1.2 million from $8ilion in 2012. A dividend from an overseas sdlgiy, remitted
to the U.S., increased foreign income inclusion§89.0 million during 2012. In 2013 no dividendsreveemitted to th
U.S..

Foreign tax credits can fully or partially offseéese incremental U.S. taxes from foreign incomkigions. The
utilization of foreign tax credits varies year agay as this is dependent on a number of variabterawhich are
difficult to predict and may in certain years prevany offset of foreign tax credits. In total, $4nillion of foreign tax
credits were utilized during 2013 to partially @fthe incremental U.S. taxes arising from foreigrome inclusions in
the year (2012 — an overseas dividend was rentittéee U.S. to provide funding for the Company’guisition
program and $42.8 million of foreign tax creditsrevetilized during 2012). Of this balance, $2.4limil of foreign tax
credit carry forwards from earlier years was utitiZ2012 — $14.2 million). This resulted in a daseein the
recognition of foreign tax credit carry forwards$#.4 million during the year (2012 — a $6.6 millidecrease).

The United Kingdom’s 3% reduction in the corporattax rate from 23% to 20% in April 2015, enacteduly 2013,
resulted in a net deferred tax charge of $0.9 onil{2012 — a net deferred tax credit of $0.5 miljim the third quarter
of 2013 primarily in relation to the deferred taosgion of the United Kingdom defined benefit pemsplan.

Further details are given in Note 10 of the Notethe Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

The Company believes that adjusted working camtalpn-GAAP financial measure, provides usefulnimi@tion to
investors in evaluating the Company’s underlyinggrenance and identifying operating trends. Managetnuses this
non-GAAP financial measure internally to allocaeaurces and evaluate the performance of the Corigpan
operations. Items excluded from the adjusted wagrkipital calculation are listed in the table bebkovd represent
factors which do not fluctuate in line with the dayday working capital needs of the business.

(in millions) 2014 2013

Total current asse $414.2 $ 407.¢
Total current liabilities (222.9 (155.6)
Working capital 191 251.¢
Less cash and cash equivale (41.¢) (80.2)
Less sho-term investment 4.7) (6.6€)
Less current portion of deferred tax as: (8.4) (8.7)
Less prepaid income tax (2.0) (11.9)
Add back current portion accrued income te 5.€ 0.C
Add back current portion of lo-term debr 0.4 5.3
Add back current portion of finance lea: 0.t 0.C
Add back current portion of plant closure provis 5.7 6.2
Add back current portion of unrecognized tax bea: 0.C 6.8
Add back current portion of acquisiti-related contingent considerati 45.7 0.C
Add back current portion of deferred tax liabils 0.C 0.2
Add back current portion of deferred inco 0.2 0.2
Adjusted working capite $192.7 $ 163.7

In 2014 our adjusted working capital increased 9.8 million, primarily due to $28.9 million of wking capital in the
Independence business as at December 31, 2014.

We had a $28.5 million increase in trade and atlesepunts receivable in 2014, which is primarilyatetl to the
acquisition of Independence, partly offset by lowereivables in our Octane Additives segment dubdaleclining
demand and the timing of shipments to our one neimgicustomer. Days’ sales outstanding in our Bypelcialties
segment increased from 49 days to 52 days andatesmtdrom 51 days to 48 days in our Performancenitiaés
segment.

We had a $26.0 million increase in inventories@14, which is primarily related to the acquisitioiindependence,
together with slightly higher inventories in ourdr$pecialties segment. Daysslles in inventory in our Fuel Specialt
segment decreased from 79 days to 76 days andhgezeén our Performance Chemicals segment frona$é ww 99
days.
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Prepaid expenses increased $2.5 million from $5ll&mto $8.3 million, partly related to the acgition of
Independence.

We had a $28.0 million increase in accounts payabtkaccrued liabilities during 2014, which is gty related to
the acquisition of Independence. Creditor dayuinFuel Specialties segment increased from 32 tiag6 days and in
our Performance Chemicals segment decreased fraay®to 31 days.

Operating Cash Flows

We generated cash from operating activities of & @dllion in 2014 compared to $61.3 million in Z01Year over
year cash from operating activities has been pestimpacted by increased net income, after addaak increased
amortization costs from the recent acquisitionsl, significant movements in income taxes.

Cash

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had cash andecpstalents of $41.6 million and $80.2 millionspectively, of
which $30.1 million and $73.3 million, respectivelyere held by non-U.S. subsidiaries principallytia United
Kingdom. The Company is in a position to controletiter or not to repatriate foreign earnings. Weenily do not
expect to make a repatriation in the foreseealilegdiand hence have not provided for future inctames on the cash
held by overseas subsidiaries. If circumstanceg Wwechange that would cause these earnings tepa¢riated, an
additional U.S. tax liability could be incurred,cawe continue to monitor this position.

Short-term Investments
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had short-temastments of $4.7 million and $6.6 million, resesli.
Debt

On August 28, 2013, we amended our five-year ramgleredit facility (“the facility”). The amendment provided for

increase in the facility available to the Compang aertain subsidiaries of the Company from $10@ilon to $150.0
million and retains the term of the facility thrdutp December 2016. In addition, an amendment &itbiie Company
to request an additional amount of $50.0 milliotnéocommitted by the lenders, of which $30.0 milliwas committed
in the fourth quarter of 2013.

On July 31, 2014, the Company increased its borrgwapacity by $20.0 million such that its creditifity now
provides for borrowings by us of up to $200.0 roifliuntil it expires on December 14, 2016 and masgrag/n down in
full in the U.S..

The credit facility contains terms which, if breadhwould result in it becoming repayable on demén@quires,
among other matters, compliance with the followiingncial covenant
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ratios measured on a quarterly basis: (1) our dititet debt to EBITDA must not be greater thanRand (2) our ratio
of EBITDA to net interest must not be less thand.Management has determined that the Compangdtdseached
these covenants throughout the period to Decenhe2(® 4 and expects to not breach these coverarttsef next

12 months. The credit facility is secured by a nantdf fixed and floating charges over certain asgdtich include key
operating sites of the Company and its subsidiaries

The current credit facility contains restrictionkieh may limit our activities, and operational dmhncial flexibility.
We may not be able to borrow if an event of defeutiutstanding, which includes a material advetsage to our
assets, operations or financial condition. The itfadility contains a number of restrictions thatit our ability, amonc
other things, and subject to certain limited exio#s, to incur additional indebtedness, pledgeassets as security,
guarantee obligations of third parties, make inwesits, effect a merger or consolidation, disposeseéts, or materia
change our line of business.

At December 31, 2014, we had $139.0 million of dalistanding under the revolving credit facility,.4 million of
debt financing within our Independence business&n@am of obligations under finance leases relatingertain fixed
assets within our Independence business.

At December 31, 2014, our maturity profile of lotegm debt and finance leases is set out below:

(in millions)

2015 $ 0.C
2016 140.]
2017 0.€
2018 0.C
Total debt 141.¢
Current portion of lon-term debt and finance leas (0.9
Long-term debt and finance leases, net of current po $140.%

Outlook

At December 31, 2014, the Company had cash, cashiadents and short-term investments of $46.3 arilliong-term
debt of $139.4 million and finance leases of $2illan, giving total debt of $141.6 million, resudg in net debt of
$95.3 million.

The Company expects to fund its operations ovkyaat the next 12 months from a combination of afpeg cash flow
and its revolving credit facility. The Company Hasded the acquisition of Independence in 2014 eiisting cash
and debt facilities which the Company believes walhtinue to provide adequate sources of liquithityfuture working
capital needs.
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Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitmentSetember 31, 2014 and the effect of those obtigaton future
cash flows:

(in millions) Total 2015 201€-17 201¢-18 Thereafter
Operating activitie:

Planned funding of pension obligatic 37.C 10.¢ 15.c 10.€ 0.C
Remediation paymen 34.1 5.7 6.2 3.7 18.4
Operating lease commitmer 16.2 4.1 6.1 3.t 2.5
Raw material purchase obligatic 30.2 6.C 12.1 12.1 0.C
Interest payments on de 2.€ 1.2 14 0.C 0.C
Investing activities

Capital commitment 14 14 0.C 0.C 0.C
Financing activitie:

Long-term debt obligation 139.4 04 139.( 0.C 0.C
Finance lease 2.2 0.t 1.1 0.€ 0.C
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati 95.2 45.7 49t 0.C 0.C
Total $358.: $75.¢ $230.¢ $ 30.¢ $ 20.€

Operating activities

The amounts related to pension obligations refénédikely levels of funding of our United Kingdodefined benefit
pension plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is closed torfe service accrual, but has a large number aroed and current
pensioners. The Company expects its annual cashimgion to be $10.8 million in 2015, $15.3 miltion 201617 anc
$10.9 million in 2018-19. It is not considered miegful to predict amounts beyond 2020 since theeg@o many
uncertainties including future returns on assedasmn increases and inflation which are evaluateeh the plan
undertakes an actuarial valuation every three years

Remediation payments represent those cash flowshth& ompany is currently obligated to pay in sedpf
environmental remediation of current and formeilitges. It does not include any discretionary refiagion costs that
the Company may choose to incur.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily tacefSpace, motor vehicles and various items of ager@nd office
equipment which are expected to be renewed andaegblin the normal course of business.

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettmg-term raw material contracts which stipulaxed or minimum
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or @aaost provisions; and the approximate timingheftransaction.
Purchase obligations exclude agreements that acelzdole without penalty.
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The estimated payments included in the table abeilect the variable interest charge on long-teghtabligations.
Estimated commitment fees are also included amalast income is excluded.

Due to the uncertainty regarding the nature ofatadtits, particularly those which are not currenihgerway, it is not
meaningful to predict the outcome of obligationated to unrecognized tax benefits. Further disol®ss provided in
Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarsiatements

Investing activities

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptgehat the Company has committed to undertake.

Financing activities

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility (“the facility”) which preides for
borrowings of up to $100.0 million. The credit fitgican be drawn down until it expires on Decembéy2016. On
August 28, 2013, we amended the facility to incegh® amount available to the Company and certdisidiaries of
the Company from $100.0 million to $150.0 millicetaining the term and conditions of the facilityaiigh to
December 2016. In addition, an amendment alloweddbmpany to request an additional amount of $80ldn to be
committed by the lenders, of which $30.0 millionsa@mmitted in the fourth quarter of 2013.

On July 31, 2014 the Company increased its borrgwapacity by $20.0 million such that its credtifidy now
provides for borrowings by us of up to $200.0 roifliuntil it expires on December 14, 2016 and masgrag/n down in
full in the U.S..

Finance leases relate to the financing of ceriaadfassets in our recent acquisition Independ@ilfeld Chemicals
LLC (“Independence”).

As part of the acquisition of Independence, Innospes deferred consideration which is contingepdlyable over the
next two years based on a multiple of Independsrmenualized earnings before interest, taxes, digypien and
amortization plus a percentage of free cash floasdsl on the current forecasts for Independencefsrpence,
Innospec will make two deferred consideration payisiewith the first one being $45.7 million payahfgroximately
one year after closing, and the second one beifip$4illion payable approximately two years aft@seg, with a
portion of such deferred payments payable, at lp@ds election, in shares of Innospec’s commonkstoc

Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

Under certain environmental laws the Company ipaasible for the remediation of hazardous substaocevastes at
currently or formerly owned or operated properties.
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As most of our manufacturing operations have beenlgcted outside the U.S., we expect that liabflgytaining to the
investigation and remediation of contaminated priogeis likely to be determined under non-U.S..law

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminatr@hdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fudlmion is made
for those costs to which we are committed undeirenmnental laws amounting to $34.1 million at Detem31, 2014.
Remediation expenditure utilizing these provisia@s $2.0 million, $1.9 million and $2.1 million the years 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company uses floating rate debt to financgldbal operations. The Company is subject to bgsimsks inherent
in non-U.S. activities, including political and emnic uncertainty, import and export limitationedamarket risk
related to changes in interest rates and foreigreoay exchange rates. The political and econoisiks rare mitigated
by the stability of the countries in which the Canp’s largest operations are located. Credit linutgjoing credit
evaluation and account monitoring procedures agd ts minimize bad debt risk. Collateral is not graly required.

From time to time, the Company uses derivativeduting interest rate swaps, commodity swaps arelgo currency
forward exchange contracts, in the normal courdmuseiness to manage market risks. The derivatised in hedging
activities are considered risk management toolsaaadhot used for trading purposes. In additioa,Gompany enters
into derivative instruments with a diversified gpoof major financial institutions in order to maedatye exposure to
non-performance of such instruments. The Compantlyjsctive in managing the exposure to changestanest rates is
to limit the impact of such changes on earningscasth flows and to lower overall borrowing costse Tompany’s
objective in managing the exposure to changesrgign currency exchange rates is to reduce vdjath earnings and
cash flows associated with such changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teates contracts. As manufacturing and raw mateosils are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigss to hedge the cost of some raw materials #uiscing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The derivesi are considered risk management tools and aresad for trading
purposes. The Company’s objective is to managexpesure to fluctuating costs of raw materials.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manageshtate exposure. As at December 31, 2014 thegp@oyrhad
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investmé®46o3 million, no bank overdraft and long-ternbtef

$139.4 million (including current portion). Longrte debt comprises a revolving credit facility whigtovides for
borrowings by us of up to $200.0 million. The ctddtility carries an interest rate based on Udllad LIBOR plus a
margin of between 1.50% and 2.25% which is depenaiethe Company’s ratio of net debt to EBITDA. Mebt and
EBITDA are non-GAAP measures of liquidity definedthe credit facility. At December 31, 2014, $13illion was
drawn under the revolving credit facility. As mapagent does not expect the credit facility to bewtrdown in the
long-term, the Company has not entered into inteeds swap agreements in relation to this.

The Company has $139.4 million long-term debt (idotg the current portion) which is partly offsgtthe $41.6
million cash and cash equivalents and $4.7 millibart-term investments. Therefore, the interesapbeyon long-term
debt (excluding the margin) exceeds the interegtivable on positive cash balances and short-tevesiments. On a
gross basis,
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assuming no additional interest on the cash bataaed short-term investments, a hypothetical abscliange of 1%
in U.S. base interest rates for a one-year perimaldvimpact net income and cash flows by approxaigel.4 million
before tax. On a net basis, assuming additionatast on the cash balances and short-term invetgneehypothetical
absolute change of 1% in U.S. base interest rates dne-year period would impact net income arsth @ws by
approximately $0.9 million before tax.

The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action to
mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuemems some operating costs in currencies otfaer the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company e thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency ofi @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in which
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gomperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the markewhich they operate. In addition, the finangasition and results
of operations of some of our overseas subsidiarneseported in the relevant local currency and thenslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfdusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro,
British pound sterling and Swiss franc. Changesxithange rates between these foreign currenciethand.S. dollar
will affect the recorded levels of our assets aalllities, to the extent that such figures refléet inclusion of foreign
assets and liabilities which are translated int8.\dollars for presentation in our consolidatedficial statements, as
well as our results of operations.

The Company'’s objective in managing the exposufer&ign currency fluctuations is to reduce earsiagd cash flow
volatility associated with foreign currency exchamgte changes. Accordingly, the Company enteosviatious
contracts that change in value as foreign currexcyange rates change to protect the U.S. dollaed its existing
foreign currency denominated assets, liabilitiesnmitments, and cash flows. The Company also usegyh currency
forward exchange contracts to offset a portiorhef€@ompany’s exposure to certain foreign currereryodhinated
revenues so that gains and losses on these centfésdt changes in the U.S. dollar value of thatee foreign currenc
denominated revenues. The objective of the hedgiogram is to reduce earnings and cash flow vaiatglated to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The trading of our Fuel Specialties and Performaoemicals reporting segments is inherently nadiuhedged and
accordingly changes in exchange rates would notdterial to our earnings or financial position. Tost base of our
Octane Additives reporting segment
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and corporate costs, however, are largely denoednatBritish pound sterling. A 5% strengtheninghe U.S. dollar
against British pound sterling would increase régmboperating income by approximately $2.5 millfona one-year
period excluding the impact of any foreign currefmyvard exchange contracts.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has lbsed as an illustration, a 5% weakening wouldxpected to ha
the opposite effect on operating income.

Raw Material Cost Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amaiggnin our manufacturing and blending processesWbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationsciost can be caused by political instability inpmbducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global symd demand of these materials, over which wes mavor little
control. We use long-term contracts (generally \iited or formula-based costs) and advance bulkhmases to help
ensure availability and continuity of supply, andhtanage the risk of cost increases. From timirie we enter into
hedging arrangements for certain raw materialsgbutot typically enter into hedging arrangemeatsafl raw
materials, chemicals or energy costs. Should teesad raw materials, chemicals or energy increase , should we not
be able to pass on these cost increases to ounoers, then operating margins and cash flows frperaiing activities
would be adversely impacted. Should raw materiatcmcrease significantly, then the Company’s Heedorking
capital could similarly increase. Any of these siglould adversely impact our results of operatiinancial position
and cash flows.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Innospec Inc. and its subsidiariesm@$pec”) as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related cdiasedl statements of income, comprehensive incohe an
accumulated other comprehensive loss, cash floadsttkholders’ equity for each of the years inttireeyear perioc
ended December 31, 2014. We also have auditedpengsnternal control over financial reporting as efdember 31
2014, based on criteria establishedhiternal Control — Integrated Framewo(R013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis&idSO). Innospec’s management is responsiblénéset
consolidated financial statements, for maintaireffgctive internal control over financial reportjrand for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal coatret financial reporting, included in the accomyag
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FriahReporting” appearing in item 9A of the FormH0Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesesobdated financial statements and an opiniomoiespec’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafelqUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan aridrp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmat athether the
financial statements are free of material misstatgrand whether effective internal control oveafinial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditthefconsolidated financial statements included éxag, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diséssn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles
used and significant estimates made by managewrmahgvaluating the overall financial statement gmétion. Our
audit of internal control over financial reportingluded obtaining an understanding of internalta@rover financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidgoperating
effectiveness of internal control based on thesssskrisk. Our audits also included performing satbler procedures
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsimgernal control over financial reporting inckglthose policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenahoecords that, in reasonable detail, accuratety/fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afdhgany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thadcéions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation afidiahstatements in accordance with generally aedepccounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures@tbmpany are being made only in accordance withoazations of
management and directors of the company; and (8)ge reasonable
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assurance regarding prevention or timely deteaifamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiothef company’s
assets that could have a material effect on ttenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal coh@iver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesés future periods are subject to the risk thatrats may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btitbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatif deficiencies, in internal control over finadaeporting, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that a naterisstatement of the compasyannual or interim financial stateme
will not be prevented or detected on a timely hasimaterial weakness related to Innospec’s laciffactive controls
to ensure the proper application of ASC 830reign Currency Mattersrelated to the treatment of foreign currency
gains or losses on intercompany loan balances deated in currencies other than the entity’s fumail currency has
been identified and included in management’s ass&ss This material weakness was considered inrdetiang the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applredur audit of the 2014 consolidated financialestants.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all matleespects, the
financial position of Innospec as of December 3 Land 2013, and the results of its operationstarghsh flows for
each of the years in the three-year period endegmber 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generaltgepted
accounting principles. Also in our opinion, becaakthe effect of the aforementioned material wesssnon the
achievement of the objectives of the control cigtelnnospec has not maintained effective intecoalrol over financie
reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on @itsiablished internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission.

Innospec acquired Independence Oilfield Chemicals ['Independence”) and management excluded frem it
assessment of the effectiveness of Innospec’siateontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®gr 2014,
Independence’s internal control over financial mipg associated with total assets of $234.7 mmilljof which $150.8
million represents goodwill and other intangiblesluded within the scope of the assessment) aatritenues of
$35.0 million included in the consolidated finariatatements of Innospec as of and for the yeag@imecember 31,
2014. Our audit of internal control over finanai@porting of Innospec also excluded an evaluatich@internal
control over financial reporting of Independence.

/s/ KPMG Audit Plc
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 17, 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except share and per share data)

Net sales
Cost of goods sol
Gross profi

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developme
Fair value of contingent considerati

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good

Total operating expens
Operating incom:

Other net income/(expens
Interest expens

Interest incom

Income before income tax
Income taxe:

Net income

Earnings per shar
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousa
Basic

Diluted
Dividend declared per common sh.

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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2014

$ 960.¢
(658.9)
302.(

(169.7)

2013

$ 818.¢
(563.6)
255.:

(142.9)
(21.2)
0.C
(1.9
(164.6)
90.€
4.1
(2.9)
0.4
92.¢
(15.0)
77.¢

&+

A
w
N
29}

2012

$ 776.
(540.0)
236.4

(119.))
(19.6)
0.C




Table of Contents

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in_millions)

Total comprehensive income for the years ended Denber 31 2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 841 $ 776 $ 66.€
Changes in cumulative translation adjustn (18.0 1.2 7.2
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivaisteuments, net of tax «

$0.0 million, $0.0 million and $0.0 million, respaely 0.C (0.2) (0.2)
Amortization of prior service credit, net of tax$®@.3 million, $0.3 million an

$0.3 million, respectivel (1.0) (1.0) (1.0)
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of tax$¢f.1) million, $(1.4) millior

and $(0.8) million, respective 4.2 4. 2.4
Actuarial net gains/(losses) arising during theryeat of tax of $(13.€

million, $1.8 million and $17.8 million, respectiye 54.7 (6.7) (58.5)
Total comprehensive incon $1241 $ 76 $ 16.C
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended
December 31 2014 2013 2012
Cumulative translation adjustme® $(49.0 $((B1L0 $ (322
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments, naagfof $0.0 million, $0.(

million and $0.0 million, respective 0.C 0.C 0.1
Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax @& million, $36.9 million

and $36.2 million, respective® (57.9) (115.7) (112.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive |i $(106.9)  $(146.9)  $(144.5

(1) Cumulative translation adjustment has beenstgflias at December 31, 2011 to account for $2libmof income taxes on historical

foreign exchange gains and losses on intercompamsl|

(2) Unrecognized actuarial net gains and losseb&eas adjusted by $4.9 million as at December 31120 reverse the impact on deferred

taxes of a change in the associated tax rate omrtezognized actuarial net losses in 2010 and .2
The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in_millions, except share and per share data

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Trade and other accounts receivable (less alloveaoic$3.9 and $2.0, respective
Inventories (less allowances of $10.2 and $9.heetsvely):
Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw material
Total inventories
Current portion of deferred tax ass
Prepaid expenst
Prepaid income taxe
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill
Other intangible asse
Deferred finance cos
Deferred tax assets, net of current por
Pension asst
Other nor-current assel
Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of lon-term debt
Current portion of finance leas
Current portion of plant closure provisia
Current portion of unrecognized tax bene
Current portion of accrued income ta:
Current portion of acquisitic-related contingent considerati
Current portion of deferred tax liabilitit
Current portion of deferred incon
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portic
Finance leases, net of current port
Plant closure provisions, net of current por
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current por
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current porti
Pension liabilities
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati
Deferred income, net of current porti
Other nor-current liabilities

Stockholder equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 40,0@0sb@res, issued 29,554,500 shi
Additional paic-in capital
Treasury stock (5,263,481 and 5,207,947 sharessatrespectively
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtedements.
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2014

$ 41
4.7
164.:

127.C
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56.7
184.¢
8.4
8.2
2.
414 ;
80.€
276.1
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2013

$ 80.2
6.€
135.¢
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1.
61.7
158.¢
8.7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in_millions )
Years ended December 3
2014 2013 2012
Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income $ 841 $ 77 $ 66.C
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigen by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 29.1 20.4 11k
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good 0.C 1.3 1.2
Deferred taxe 5.& 5.8 12.1
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages (0.9 (3.8 (2.2
Cash contributions to defined benefit pension p (11.€ (11.0 (9.9
Non-cash expense of defined benefit pension 3.E 3.C 2.C
Stock option compensatic 2.€ 2.t 3.1
Repayment of promissory note in civil complaintisehent (5.0 (5.0 (5.0
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effettcquired and divested
companies
Trade and other accounts receive (0.9 (1.9 (14.7
Inventories (11.7) (10.7 (1.0
Prepaid expenst (1.3 (0.5 0.1
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 0.t (4.9 (5.5
Accrued income taxe 14.¢ (24.7) 1.C
Fair value of contingent considerati (1.9 0.C 0.C
Plant closure provisior 1.¢ 1.¢ 1.8
Unrecognized tax benefi (6.8 0.2 0.2
Other nor-current assets and liabiliti 2.€ (0.79) (1.9
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi 106.: 61.2 61.2
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure (13.5) (11.0 (8.6)
Business combinations, net of cash acqu (98.7) (94.9 (53.])
Internally developed software and other ct (8.9 (9.9 (8.5
Purchase of shc-term investment (5.0 (7.0 (5.0
Sale of sho-term investment 6.€ 5.7 4.6
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activi (119.0 (116.7) (70.9)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Proceeds from revolving credit facili 53.C 145.( 18.C
Repayments of revolving credit facili (56.0 (23.0 (18.0
Repayment of term loat (1.7 (0.2 0.C
Refinancing cost (0.2 (0.9 0.C
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages 0.4 3.8 2.2
Dividend paid (13.9) (12.0) (46.7)
Issue of treasury stoc 0.4 3.8 1.2
Repurchase of common stc (6.9 (3.9 (1.9
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activi (24.: 112.¢ (44.9)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changesash (1.6 (0.2) 0.7)
Net change in cash and cash equival (38.6) 57.¢ (53.¢)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 80.2 22.4 76.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 41 $ 80. $ 227

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $0.7 mill (2013 — $0.4 million, 2012 — $0.4 million) ftive year are
included in depreciation and amortization in thehcllow statement but in interest expense in therme statement.
Cash payments/receipts in respect of income tax@snderest are disclosed in Note 10 and Noteddpectively, of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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(in_millions )
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Treasury Retained Comprehensive Stockholders
Paid-In
Stock Capital Stock Earnings Loss Equity

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 0.2 $ 291t $ (88.1) $ 241.% $ (102.7) $ 343.1
Adjustment for income taxe®) 2.7 2.7 0.
Adjustment for deferred tax(?) (4.9 4.8 0.C
Adjusted beginning balanc 0.3 291.t (88.]) 233.¢ (94.5) 343.]
Net income 66.¢ 66.¢
Dividend paid ($2.00 per shar (46.7) (46.7)
Changes in cumulative translation adjustrr 7.2 7.2
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative

instruments, net of ta (0.7) (0.7
Treasury stock -issuec (3.5 4.t 1.C
Treasury stock repurchas (1.9 (1.4)
Stock option compensatic 2.1 21
Fair value of Strata acquisition-related contingent

issuable share 2.C 2.C
Amortization of prior service credit, net of t (1.0 (2.0
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of 2.4 2.4
Actuarial net losses arising during the year, rieto (58.5) (58.5)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.3 $ 292.1 $ (85.0 $ 254.1 $ (144.%) $ 317.(
Net income 77.€ 77.¢
Dividend paid ($0.50 per shar (12.0 (12.0
Changes in cumulative translation adjustrr 1.2 1.z
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative

instruments, net of ts (0.3 (0.
Treasury stock -issuec 4.2 8.8 4.€
Treasury stock repurchas 3.7) (3.7
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment

arrangement 3.8 3.6
Stock option compensatic 2.5 2.t
Fair value of Bachman acquisiti-related consideratic 10.E 4 15.C
Fair value of Chemsil acquisiti-related consideratic 4.1 2.1 6.2
Amortization of prior service credit, net of t (1.0 (2.0
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of 4.8 4.¢
Actuarial net losses arising during the year, rieto (6.7) (6.7)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.2 $ 308.¢ $ (73.9) $ 319.¢ $ (146.%) $ 409.¢
Net income 84.1 84.1
Dividend paid ($0.55 per shar (13.9 (13.9)
Changes in cumulative translation adjustrr (18.0 (18.0
Treasury stock -issuec (1.0 1.t 0.t
Treasury stock repurchas (6. (6.
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment

arrangement 0.4 0.4
Stock option compensatic 2.6 2.€
Fair value of contingent considerati (2.0 1.2 (0.§)
Amortization of prior service credit, net of t (1.0 (2.0
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of 4.3 4.2
Actuarial net gains arising during the year, netiead 54.7 54.7
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.2 $ 308.¢ $ (78.7) $ 391.¢ $ (106.3) $ 515.¢

(1) Adjustment to account for the income taxes istohical foreign exchange gains and losses omdatepany loans into cumulative
translation adjustmen

(2) Adjustment to reverse the impact on deferredsaf a change in the associated tax rate onrtezognized actuarial net losses in 2010
and 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends, markdtswgwplies fuel additives, oilfield chemicals, peral care and
fragrance products and other specialty chemicals.p@ducts are sold primarily to oil and gas exgiion and
production companies, oil refineries, personal eer@ fragrance companies, and other chemical ahginal
companies throughout the world. Our fuel additike improve fuel efficiency, boost engine perfono@and reduce
harmful emissions. Our oilfield specialties busssspplies drilling and production chemicals whicake exploration
and production more cost-efficient, and more emumentally-friendly. Our other specialty chemicateypde effective
technology-based solutions for our customers’ ses or products focused in the Personal Carefrféody and
Fragrance Ingredients markets. Our Octane Additivssness manufactures products for use in autemgasoline ar
provides services in respect of environmental reatieth. Our principal product lines and reportatdégments are Fuel
Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Octane ikddlit

See Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Fiah&tatements for financial information on the Camygs reportable
segments.

Note 2. Accounting Policies

Basis of preparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am&and include all subsidiaries of the Company wliee Company
has a controlling financial interest. All signifitaintercompany accounts and balances have baamated upon
consolidation. All acquisitions are accounted f®iparchases and the results of operations of tpa@irec businesses ¢
included in the consolidated financial statemeramfthe date of acquisition. We have reclassifiedain prior period
amounts to conform to the current period presentati

Use of estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial statets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am&rrequires management to make estimates and pissasthat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahioial statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ
from those estimates.

Cash equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three nherir less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Short-term investmentivestment securities with maturities of more tBamonths and less than 12 months when
purchased are considered to be short-term invessmen

Trade and other accounts receivabldie Company records trade and other accounts addeiat net realizable value
and maintains allowances for customers not maleqggired
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payments. The Company determines the adequaclowfaaices by periodically evaluating each custoraeeivable
considering our customer’s financial condition,ditd@istory and current economic conditions.

Inventories:inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF@hmod) or market value. Cost includes materiatsyianc
an appropriate proportion of plant overheads. Tbhe@any accrues volume discounts where it is prebtdait the
required volume will be attained and the amountlmaneasonably estimated. The discounts are red@sla reduction
in the cost of materials based on projected pueshaser the period of the agreement. Inventoriesdjusted for
estimated obsolescence and written down to magdaewbased on estimates of future demand and mawvkditions.

Property, plant and equipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefas of the assets using the straight-line methudl is allocated
between cost of goods sold and operating expelmbescost of additions and improvements are capédli
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expensesn Afsets are sold or retired the associated mostc@umulated
depreciation are removed from the consolidatedhfired statements and any related gain or losscladed in earnings.
The estimated useful lives of the major classedepfeciable assets are as follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 yeat
Equipment 3 to 10 yeat

Goodwill and other intangible assetSoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to Iradefinite lives are not
amortized but are subject to at least annual impext tests. We perform a qualitative assessmeadatayrmine whether
it is more likely than not that the fair value o$@gment is less than the carrying amount prigetéorming the two-
step goodwill impairment test. If this is requined assess the fair value based on projected postsh flows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average ¢astpital. The annual measurement date for impaitrtesting of
the goodwill relating to the Fuel Specialties amaférmance Chemicals segments is December 31 eachAt this
date we performed annual impairment tests and adedlthat there had been no impairment of goodwikspect of
those reporting segments. The Company capitalziéware development costs, including licenses, sgbent to the
establishment of technological feasibility. Othatangible assets deemed to have finite lives, ciotysoftware
development costs and licenses, are amortized tisngtraight-line method over their estimated widefes and tested
for any potential impairment when events occuriarunstances change which suggest that an impairmay have
occurred.

Deferred finance costThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the consolidated
balance sheets and amortized using the effectteecist method over the expected life of the detatricing facility.
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Impairment of lon-lived assetsThe Company reviews the carrying value of its Itimgd assets, including buildings
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstangggestuthat the carrying values may be impairedrder to
facilitate this test the Company groups togethsewsat the lowest possible level for which castv ihformation is
available. Undiscounted future cash flows expetde@sult from the assets are compared with theyicarvalue of the
assets and if they are lower an impairment loss leaecognized. The amount of the impairment Ieska difference
between the fair value and the carrying value efabsets. Fair values are determined using posakdxflows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average ¢astpital.

Derivative instrumentsFrom time to time, the Company uses various davigahstruments including forward currer
contracts, options, interest rate swaps and contgnegiaps to manage certain exposures. These institisrare entered
into under the Company’s corporate risk managemelnty to minimize exposure and are not for spetowgarading
purposes. The Company recognizes all derivativestiasr non-current assets or liabilities in thesmlidated balance
sheet and measures those instruments at fair v@hanges in the fair value of derivatives thatravedesignated as
hedges, or do not meet the requirements for hecgmiating, are recognized in earnings. Derivatwbgh are
designated as hedges are tested for effectivemesgjoarterly basis, and marked to market. Thdentbe portion of
the derivative’s change in value is recognizedamangs. The effective portion is recognized inestbomprehensive
income until the hedged item is recognized in e

Environmental compliance and remediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing teaiance, monitoring
and similar costs. We recognize environmental liiéds when they are probable and costs can benaddy estimated,
and asset retirement obligations when there igal lgbligation and costs can be reasonably estin&ech accruals a
adjusted as further information develops or circiamses change. Costs of future obligations areodrged to their
present values using the Company’s credit-adjuss&efree rate.

Acquisitior-related contingent and deferred consideratiD&ferred consideration payable in cash is discalitudts
fair value. Where deferred consideration is corgirigipon predetermined financial targets, an estimate of tivevidue
of the likely consideration payable is made. Thustsgent deferred consideration is re-assessedbdigrand a
corresponding adjustment is recognized in operatiogme, and the associated liability, to refléet passage of time
accretion expense and any revisions to the amauirhimg of the initial measurement.

Revenue recognitiorThe Company supplies products to customers frowaii®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer site$gua variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mmdi. In each cas

revenue is recognized when legal title, which isneel and generally accepted in the standard tamdsconditions, an

risk of loss transfers between the Company and@uktomer. Provisions for sales discounts and reltateustomers a

based upon the terms of sales contracts and aedegtin the
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same period as the related sales as a deductimréwenue. The Company estimates the provisiosdlas discounts
and rebates based on the terms of each agreenthettahe of shipping.

Components of net salestl amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCiipany are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of cost of goods sdliist of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcogluding inbound freight, duty
and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handling casisciéated with the receipt of raw materials, patig@qaterials,
manufacturing costs including labor costs, maimeeraand utility costs, plant and engineering ovadiseamortization
expense for certain other intangible assets, warehg and outbound shipping costs and handlingctrstentory
losses and provisions and the costs of customienglare also recognized in the cost of goods tiera.i

Components of selling, general and administratieemsesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the disdets
force, and the sales management and customer se®partments required to support them. It alsopcizes
commission charges, the costs of sales conferemmkade shows, the cost of advertising and priomst
amortization expense for certain other intangilsisets, and the cost of bad and doubtful debts. r@lesred
administrative expenses comprise the cost of safiyoctions including accounting, human resouragsymation
technology and the cost of group functions inclgdiorporate management, finance, tax, treasurgstov relations
and legal departments. Provision of managemenssdsimate of legal and settlement costs forditan in which the
Company is involved is made and reported in theiadinative expense line item.

Research and development expenResearch, development and testing costs are expentige income statement as
incurred.

Earnings per shareBasic earnings per share is based on the weighisrdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share idetuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.

Foreign currenciesThe Company’s policy is that foreign exchange dédfeces arising on the translation of the balanc
sheets of entities that have functional currenctasr than the U.S. dollar are taken to a sepaqiéy reserve, the
cumulative translation adjustment. In entities vehtre U.S. dollar is the functional currency nangaor losses on
translation occur, and gains or losses on moneissgts relating to currencies other than the Wigardare taken to the
income statement in other net income/(expensen<Gaid losses on intercompany foreign currencysledrich are
long-term in nature, which the Company does n@ndtto settle in the foreseeable future, are &sorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. Other for@ghange gains or losses are also included im agtencome/
(expense) in the income statement.
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Stock-based compensation plambe Company accounts for employee stock optionsstouk equivalent units under
the fair value method. Stock options are fair vdlaethe grant date and the fair value is recoghsteaight-line over
the vesting period of the option. Stock equivalamts are fair valued at each balance sheet dat¢harfair value is
spread over the remaining vesting period of thé uni

Pension plans and other p-employment benefit$he Company recognizes the funded status of debeeéfit post-
retirement plans on the consolidated balance she@etshanges in the funded status in comprehemsivene. The
measurement date of the plan’s funded status isaime as the Company’s fiscal year-end. The secosts are
recognized as employees render the services negégsarn the post-employment benefits. Priorisergosts and
credits and actuarial gains and losses are amodnizer the average remaining life expectancy ofriaetive
participants using the corridor method.

Income taxesThe Company provides for income taxes by recoggidieferred tax assets and liabilities for the etqut
future tax consequences of temporary differencesdsn the financial statement carrying amountsthadelevant tax
bases of the assets and liabilities. When apprieptiie Company evaluates the need for a valuatiowance to reduc
deferred tax assets. The effect on deferred talxaloange in tax rates is recognized in the pehatlincludes the
enactment date. The Company recognizes the taxXibiEam an uncertain tax position only if it is melikely than not
the tax position will be sustained on examinatigritie taxing authorities, based on the technicaltmef the position.
The tax benefits recognized in the financial staets from such positions are then measured bast#twdargest
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihoodeshdp realized upon settlement. Changes in recagndr measurement
are reflected in the period in which the changgidgment occurs. The Company recognizes accruecesttand
penalties associated with uncertain tax positiangaat of income taxes in our consolidated statésnanncome.

Note 3. Segmental Reporting and Geographical Aa Data

Innospec divides its business into three segmentai&nagement and reporting purposes: Fuel Spesidierformanc
Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuel Specsattied Performance Chemicals segments operate ketsavhere
we actively seek growth opportunities althoughrtltimate customers are different. The Octane Ades segment is
generally characterized by volatile and declinieghdnd.

In 2014, the Company had as a significant customtite Fuel Specialties segment, Royal Dutch Sileland its
affiliates (“Shell”), which accounted for $81.9 toh (8.5%) of our net group sales. In 2013 andZ@&hell accounted
for $83.1 million (10%) and $82.9 million (11%) ofir net group sales, respectively.
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The Company evaluates the performance of its segn@sed on operating income. The following tableyzes sales
and other financial information by the Company’sagable segments:

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $682.2 $567.¢ $527.2
Performance Chemica 223.t 192.¢ 179.¢
Octane Additive: 55.2 59.(C 69.€

$960.¢ $818.¢ $776.4

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $219.C $181.1  $158.7
Performance Chemica 54.¢ 46.7 43.¢
Octane Additives 28.€ 27.¢ 33.¢€

$302.( $255.2 $236.<

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $104.¢ $ 92.7 $ 87.€
Performance Chemica 25.€ 23.€ 24.c
Octane Additive: 22.€ 21.t 26.C
Pension credit/(charg (3.9 (2.3 (1.6
Corporate cost (38.7) (43.¢) (38.€)
Fair value of contingent considerati 1.€ 0.C 0.C
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good 0.C (1.3 (1.2
Total operating incom $112.F $90.6 $ 96t
Identifiable assets at year end

Fuel Specialtie $676.¢  $446.«  $356.¢
Performance Chemica 181.( 176.¢ 113.¢
Octane Additive: 29.2 42.C 48.€
Corporate 112.¢ 129.f 60.5

$999.¢ $794. $579.4

Restructuring charges separately disclosed in pedods have been reclassified to corporate cégtshave
reclassified the prior period amounts to confornthcurrent period presentation.

The pension charge relates to the United Kingdofimel@ benefit pension plan which is closed to fatservice accrue
The charges related to our other much smaller parsarangements in the U.S. and overseas are ettindhe
segment and income statement captions consisténtive related employees’ costs.
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The Company includes within the corporate costs iiem the costs of:

managing the Group as a company with securitiesdlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S

the President/CE’s office, group finance, group human resourcesjmgtegal and compliance counsel, :
investor relations

running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear

the corporate development function since they doelate to the current trading activities of otiney
reporting segments; al

the corporate share of the information technoleggounting and human resources departm

Sales by geographical area are reported by sdoeagy where the transactions originated. Intercomzales are
priced using an appropriate pricing methodology argdeliminated in the consolidated financial steets.

Identifiable assets are those directly associatddtive operations of the geographical area.

Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicatioo on the grounds that it would be impracticabldo so.
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(in millions)

Net sales by source
United State:
United Kingdom
Rest of Europt

Rest of Worlc
Sales between are

Income before income taxes
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europt

Rest of Worlc

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good

Long-lived assets at year enc
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europt

Rest of Worlc

Identifiable assets at year end
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europt

Rest of Worlc

Goodwill
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2014 2013
$468.6  $276.1
486.1 502.2
146.¢ 129.1
21.4 0.2
(162.7) (89.0)
$960.C  $818.¢
$ 152  $ 10
57. 43.7
39.: 40.£
(1.4) 0.C
0.C (1.9)
$110.¢  $ 92.¢
$197.¢  $148.:
54.1 29.¢
10.4 11.F
0.€ 0.C
$263.  $189.1
$449.2  $291.]
216.2 261.F
39.C 53.
19.1 0.4
276.1 187.¢
$999.¢  $794.]

2012

$ 274.1
475.1
142.¢

0.5
(116.)

$ 776.4

$ 5.€
36.¢
52.€
0.C
(1.2)

$ 93.c

$ 31t
28.17
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Note 4. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weightsrdge number of common shares outstanding dunmg@eriod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectptibos that are dilutive and outstanding duringgkedod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2014 2013 2012

Numerator (in millions):

Net income available to common stockholc $ 84.1 $ 77.t $ 66.C
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 24,39: 23,65 23,18
Dilutive effect of stock options and awat 487 50& 665
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 24,87¢ 24,15¢ 23,85(
Net income per share, basic $ 3.4t $ 3.2¢ $ 2.8¢
Net income per share, diluted $ 3.3¢ $ 3.27 $ 2.81

In 2014, 2013 and 2012 the average number of dativé options excluded from the calculation olutked earnings
per share were 36,775, nil and 1,380 respectively.

Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the ¥ahg:

(in millions) 2014 2013
Land $ 8. $ 7.E
Buildings 20.7 10.¢
Equipment 151.¢ 152.¢
Work in progres: 5.7 3.€
187.( 175.1
Less accumulated depreciati (106.2) (114.%)
$ 80.¢ $ 60.4

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decen3tie 2014 $2.2 million are in respect of assetd bader finance
leases. At December 31, 2013 no amounts are irecespassets held under finance leases.

Depreciation charges were $10.6 million, $8.9 miilland $7.0 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respelst
The estimated additional cost to complete workrogpess is $1.4 million (2013 — $2.2 million).
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Note 6. Goodwill
The following table analyzes goodwill for 2014 &2l 3.

Performance

Fuel Octane
(in millions) Specialtie: Chemicals Additives Total
At January 1, 201
Gross cosw $ 117.¢ $ 30.1 $ 236.t $ 384.-
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (235.2) (235.2)
Net book amour 117.¢ 30.1 1.2 149.(
Exchange effec 0.C 0.C 0.C 0.C
Acquisitions 22.¢ 16.7 0.C 39.€
Adjustments to purchase price allocat 0.€ 0.C 0.C 0.€
Impairment losse 0.C 0.C (1.3 (1.3
At December 31, 201
Gross cos® 141.1 46.¢ 236.5 424 ¢
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (236.5) (236.5)
Net book amour 141.] 46.¢ 0.C 187.¢
Exchange effec (0.9 (0.1 0.C (0.9
Acquisitions 88.1 0.C 0.C 88.1
Adjustments to purchase price allocat 0.t 0.C 0.C 0.t
Impairment losse 0.C 0.C 0.C 0.C
At December 31, 201
Gross cos® 229.¢ 46.7 236.5 512.¢
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (236.9) (236.9)
Net book amour $ 229. $ 46.7 $ 0C $ 276.]

(1) Gross cost is net of $8.7 million, $0.3 milliand $289.5 million of historical accumulated anzation in respect of the Fuel Specialties,
Performance Chemicals and Octane Additives regpg@gments, respective

The Company’s reporting units, the level at whidodwill is tested for impairment, are consistenhvihe reportable
segments: Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemindl©atane Additives. The components in each seg(maiding
products, markets and competitors) have similanecoc characteristics and the segments, therafeilect the lowest
level at which operations and cash flows can barlylalistinguished, operationally and for finanaigborting purposes,
from the rest of the Company.

The Company tests goodwill annually for impairmemtbetween years if events occur or circumstanbhaage which
suggests impairment may have occurred. At DeceBibe2014, the fair value of our Fuel Specialtied BRerformance
Chemicals segments substantially exceeds the ngrmglue.
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To determine the fair value of each of our segmenetsitilize a discounted cash flow methodology damethe foreca
future after-tax cash flows from operations forleamce we believe this provides the best appraotkimaf fair value.
This methodology requires us to make assumptiodsatimates including those in respect of futuvemnee growth
and gross margins, which are based upon our largerplans, and the Compasyveighted average cost of capital. -
long range plans are regularly updated as partioplanning processes and are reviewed and apptovathnagement
and our Board of Directors. We assume terminalasfor the Fuel Specialties and Performance Chésmeporting
units which are added to the present value ofdlexant forecast future cash flows. We assumemainal value for
the Octane Additives reporting unit beyond itsraated future life. The discounted cash flow methogip does not
assume a control premium. We use a discount raigagnt to the Company’s weighted average cosagpftal which
is estimated by reference to the overall afterrtag of return required by equity and debt marleetipipants in the
Company. We assign assets and liabilities, inclydieferred taxes and goodwill, to our reportingsiifithe asset or
liability relates to the operations of that repogtunit and is included in determining the fairueabf the reporting unit.
Cash and debt obligations are excluded from theyicgyr value of our reporting units.

In 2014 some of the assumptions and estimates pimaérg our discounted cash flows were revisedaas g our
planning processes although the methodology walsanged. The most significant revisions were thatGbmpany’s
weighted average cost of capital was changed kectehe changing proportion of debt to equity fungdof the
Company.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Performance Chésrgcadwill as
at December 31 each year. At December 31, 2014ad&529.4 million and $46.7 million of goodwill ating to our
Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals segnresisectively. At this date we performed annugdamment tests
and concluded that there had been no impairmegoadwill in respect of those reporting segments.

We believe that the assumptions used in our arandhjuarterly impairment tests are reasonablethiatithey are
judgmental, and variations in any of the assumpgtimay result in materially different calculatiorfSrapairment
charges, if any.

| ndependence Acquisition

On October 27, 2014, the Company acquired 100%eoftembership interests in Independence Oilfieldndibals
LLC (“Independence”). Independence, based in Hou$&xas, services the oil and gas industry, withcas on
completion, stimulation and production chemical® urchased Independence for a total discountesidemation of
$191.8 million, with an initial payment at closing$99.0 million funded from existing cash and dfgilities. As
Independence has been in a phase of very rapidligrdve remaining payments are performance rekated
contingently payable over the next two years based
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multiple of Independencg’annualized earnings before interest, taxes, digi@ and amortization plus a percentac
free cash flow. Based on the current forecastinibependence’s performance, Innospec will makedeferred
consideration payments, with the first one being.$4nillion payable approximately one year afteseig, and the
second one being $49.5 million payable approximdted years after closing, with a portion of suafadred payments
payable, at Innospec’s election, in shares of Ipec's common stock. We acquired the business ieracdmove
forward our strategy of building a new market leadehe oilfield specialties sector which formgtpaf our Fuel
Specialties segment.

Included in the consolidated income statement®i@bmpany since the acquisition date, are thevittig revenue and
earnings for Independence, including an accreti@mrge of $2.4 million:

(in millions) Independenct
Net sales $ 35.C
Net income $ 0.2

The following table summarizes the calculationgheftotal purchase price and the estimated allmcati the purchase
price to the assets acquired and liabilities assuimelndependence. The purchase price allocasiomt yet complete
as we are in the process of finalising the valuatibthe assets acquired. Final determination effélir values may
result in adjustments to the amounts presentedvbelo

(in millions) Independenct
Gooduwill $ 88.1
Other intangible asse 63.¢
Fixed asset 18.€
Other net assets acquir 21.2
Purchase price, net of cash acqu $ 191.¢

Independence, and the associated goodwill, araded within our Fuel Specialties segment for manmesyg and
reporting purposes (see Note 7 of the Notes t&thesolidated Financial Statements for further imfation on the oth
intangible assets). There is currently no goodavillortizable for tax purposes.

Supplemental unaudited pro forma information

For illustrative purposes only pro forma informatiof the enlarged group is provided below but ismexessarily
indicative of what the financial position or resuitf operations would have been had all the Conmipaguisitions
including Independence been completed as of Jariy&§13. In addition, the unaudited pro formaicial
information is not indicative of, nor does it purpto project, the future financial position of @peng results of the
enlarged group.
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(in millions, except per share data 2014 2013
Net sales $1,046.: $991.2
Net income $ 77.C $ 72.2
Earnings per shar basic $ 3.1¢€ $ 3.0¢€
—diluted $ 3.1C $ 2.9¢

Adjustments to the unaudited pro forma financi&imation includes amortization in respect of toquared other
intangible assets for all acquisitions, and theugstion-related costs incurred in respect of ladide transactions.

Note 7. Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2014 2013
Gross cost
— Product rights $ 34.C $ 34.C
- Brand name 8.€ 2.€
— Technology 59.¢ 33.¢
— Customer relationshig 87.¢ 58.7%
— Patents 2.6 2.6
— Internally developed software and other ct 27.¢ 19.5
— Non-compete agreemer 4.1 1.t
— Marketing relatec 22.1 22.1
247 . 175.5

Accumulated amortizatior

— Product rights (5.0 (1.2
— Brand name (0.9) (0.7)
— Technology (10.9) (7.€
— Customer relationshig (21.9) (16.¢)
— Patents (2.€ (2.€)
— Internally developed software and other c« (4.9 (1.0)
— Non-compete agreemer (1.€) (0.7)
— Marketing relatec (19.9 (18.9)

66.5 48.7

Product rights

Following the acquisition of Chemsil on August 20,13, the Company recognized an intangible ass&340 million
in respect of Chemsil’s product rights portfolidii3 asset has an expected life of 9 years andng laenortized on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.
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An amortization expense of $3.7 million was recagdiin 2014 (2013 — $1.3 million) in cost of goaadd.
Brand names

Following the acquisition of Independence on Octdte 2014, the Company recognized an intangitdetasf $6.0
million in respect of Independence’s brand namés @kset has an expected life of 10 years andng laenortized on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.

Following the acquisition of Bachman on Novembe2@13, the Company recognized an intangible ag<k2.6
million in respect of Bachman’s brand names. Thseahas an expected life of 5 years and is benaytezed on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.

An amortization expense of $0.7 million was recagdiin 2014 (2013 — $0.1 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.

Technology

Following the acquisition of Independence on Octdh® 2014, the Company recognized an intangitdetas $26.0
million in respect of Independence’s product foratigins. This asset has an expected life of 15 yaradss being
amortized on a straight-line basis over this peridal residual value is anticipated.

Following the acquisition of Bachman on Novembe2@13, the Company recognized an intangible ag%8.6
million in respect of Bachman’s core chemistry kAlo@w of oilfield chemicals. This asset has an eigubtife of 15
years and is being amortized on a straight-linésk@aser this period. No residual value is antiogohat

Following the acquisition of Strata on DecemberZ3t 2, the Company recognized an intangible agskt&3 million
in respect of technological know-how of the mixergd manufacturing process, patents which protectathnology
and the associated product branding. This assetrhagpected life of 16.5 years and is being azexiton a straight-
line basis over this period. No residual valuenscpated.

An amortization expense of $2.4 million was recagdiin 2014 (2013 — $1.9 million) in cost of gosddd.

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Independence on Octdtk 2014, the Company recognized an intangitdetasf $29.2
million in respect of Independence’s long-term ou®tr relationships. This asset has a weighted geexapected life
of 10 years and is being amortized on a straigigtiasis over this period. No residual value igcgated.
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Following the acquisition of Bachman on Novembe2@13, the Company recognized an intangible asskt45
million in respect of Bachman’s long-term customedationships. This asset has a weighted avergoeceed life of
14.5 years and is being amortized on a straigktiimsis over this period. No residual value iscgrdied.

Following the acquisition of Strata on December221, 2, the Company recognized an intangible agsk2&2 million
in respect of long-term customer relationshipssHsset has an expected life of 11.5 years arglng lamortized on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC) in January 2008, Company
recognized an intangible asset of $4.2 millionglation to customer lists acquired. This assetdmasxpected life of 13
years and is being amortized on a straight-linésbager this period. No residual value is antiogoht

An amortization expense of $5.0 million was recagdiin 2014 (2013 — $4.1 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.

Internally developed software and other costs

In 2014 we continued with the process of developingnew, company-wide, information system platfofoiowing
the successful deployment at the majority of ou8.Wites in the third quarter of 2013. Our nextgehaf
implementation includes the majority of reportingts outside of the U.S.. At December 31, 2014 ae ¢apitalized
$27.8 million (2013 — $9.5 million) in relation to this internally devegled software. This asset has an expected life
years and is being amortized on a straight-linésb@aser this period. No residual value is anticgohtAn amortization
expense of $3.8 million was recognized in 2014 806%1.0 million) in selling, general and admirasitre expenses.

Non-compete agreements

Following the acquisition of Independence on Octdh® 2014, the Company recognized an intangildetas $2.6
million in respect of a non-compete agreement. ak&et has an expected life of 3 years and is laenaytized on a
straight-line basis over this period. No residugle is anticipated.

Following the acquisition of Strata on December2e1,2, the Company recognized an intangible agsgt.6 million
in respect of a non-compete agreement. This aasked expected life of 2 years and is now fully gmned.

An amortization expense of $0.9 million was recagdiin 2014 (2013 — $0.7 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.
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Marketing related (formerly Ethyl)

An intangible asset of $28.4 million was recogniethe second quarter of 2007 in respect of E@ofiporation
foregoing their entitlement effective April 1, 206¥a share of the future income stream underdtes @and marketing
agreements to market and sell TEL. In 2008, cohpamvisions no longer deemed necessary of $6.[Bomilvere offset
against the intangible asset. The amount attribisteélde Octane Additives reporting segment wasdgamortized
straight-line to December 31, 2012 and the amotiribated to the Fuel Specialties reporting segnebeing
amortized straight-line to December 31, 2017. BitecOctober 1, 2011, the Company extended itsneté for the
future life of the Octane Additives segment froncBaber 31, 2012 to December 31, 2013 and therpfospectively
adjusted the amortization period for the amoumitatted to the Octane Additives segment. An amatitin expense of
$1.0 million was recognized in 2014 (2013 — $1.Wiom) in cost of goods sold.

Amortization expense

The aggregate of other intangible asset amortizaipense was $17.8 million, $11.1 million and $#illion in 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively, of which $7.4 milli$8,8 million and $2.6 million, respectively, wacognized in cost
of goods sold, and the remainder was recognizedlimg, general and administrative expenses.

Future amortization expense is estimated to belksws for the next five years:

(in millions)

2015 $21.£
2016 $24.£
2017 $24.2
2018 $21.1
2019 $18.:

Note 8. Deferred Finance Costs

On August 28, 2013, we amended our five-year remgleredit facility (“the facility”). As a result@9 million of
refinancing costs were capitalized in 2013 andoaiag amortized over the expected life of the fgcilsing the
effective interest method, in line with the costpitalized for the original facility in December2

(in millions) 2014 2013
Gross cost $2.€ $2.¢€
Accumulated amortizatio (1.5 (0.9

$1.1 $ 1.6

Amortization expense was $0.7 million, $0.4 milliand $0.4 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respetyivThe charge
is included in interest expense. See Note 2 oNihies to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 9. Pension Plans

United Kingdom plan

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension filee “Plan”) covering a number of its current doamer
employees in the United Kingdom, although it ddes &ave other much smaller pension arrangemertteib).S. and
overseas. The Plan is closed to future servicauatbut has a large number of deferred and cupemsioners. The
Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBQO”) is based amali salary and years of credited service reducesbbial security
benefits according to a plan formula. Normal retiemt age is 65 but provisions are made for eatiseraent. The
Plan’s assets are invested by several investmemhgeanent companies in funds holding United King@dorm overseas
equities, United Kingdom and overseas fixed intesesurities, index linked securities, propertyt tinists and cash or
cash equivalents. The trustegs/estment policy is to seek to achieve specifipgctives through investing in a suite
mixture of real and monetary assets. The trustaggnize that the returns on real assets, whilea&d to be greater
over the long-term than those on monetary assetdikaly to be more volatile. A mixture acrossetsdasses should
nevertheless provide the level of returns requimgthe Plan to meet its liabilities at an accedéVel of risk for the
trustees and an acceptable level of cost to thep@om

During the second quarter of 2010 the Company implged a pension increase exchange (“PIE”) prodoarcurrent
pensioners, effective April 1, 2010, which redutieel PBO by $17.1 million. This reduction in PBOuksd in a prior
service credit which is being amortized using tinaight-line method over the remaining life expectaof Plan
pensioners of 15 years commencing April 1, 2010.

When the plan closed to future accrual in 201@ployees became inactive and GAAP requires tleshvkrage
remaining life expectancy of the inactive particifsis used, instead of the average remainingeerio spread future
amortization of actuarial net losses. The averageming life expectancy of the inactive particifsaimas been
approximately 24 years since the plan closed ir0201

In 2014, the Company contributed approximately $Miillion in cash to the Plan in accordance withaatuarial defic
recovery plan agreed with the trustees.
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(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Plan net pension charge/(credi
Service cos $ 1.7 $ 1€ $ 1€
Interest cost on PB! 34.7 31.c 32.2
Expected return on plan ass (37.2) (35.5) (34.1)
Amortization of prior service crec 1.3 1.3 (1.3
Amortization of actuarial net loss 5.4 6.2 3.2
e $ 2.3 $ 1€
Plan assumptions at December 31, ('
Discount rate 3.5t 4.4(C 4.1%
Inflation rate 2.1¢ 2.5¢ 2.2C
Rate of return on plan ass~ overall on bi-value 4.0t 4.8t 4.9C
Rate of return on plan ass~ equity securitie: 6.5(C 7.5C 7.2t
Rate of return on plan ass~ debt securitie 2.7¢ 3.4C 3.6t
Plan asset allocation by category (%
Equity securitie: 32 35 33
Debt securitie: 63 61 61
Cash _ 5 4 6
10C 10C 10C

The discount rate used represents the annualieddilyased on a cash flow matched methodology wittrence to an
AA corporate bond spot curve and having regarthéoduration of the Plan’s liabilities. The inflaticate is derived
using a similar cash flow matched methodology &slder the discount rate but having regard to ifferénce betwee
yields on fixed interest and index linked Unitechflom government gilts. A 0.25% change in the distoate
assumption would change the PBO by approximatedyrilion and the net pension credit for 2015 bpraximately
$0.3 million. A 0.25% change in the level of prioflation assumption would change the PBO by apimaxely $22
million and the net pension credit for 2015 wouédunchanged.

The current investment strategy of the Plan idiaia an asset allocation of 65% debt securities349 equity
securities in order to achieve a more predictadtiern on assets. As at December 31, 2014, appreedyrz0%
(December 31, 2013 — 55%) of the Plan’s assets adckin index-tracking funds with one investmeraimagement
company. Approximately 40% (December 31, 2013 —P&fthe Plan’s assets were invested in United Harg
government gilts. No more than 5% of the Plan'e@swere invested in any one individual company&stment
funds.
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetaarfellows:

(in millions) 2014 2013

Change in PBC
Opening balanc $819.¢ $805.:
Interest cos 34.1 31.c
Service cos 1.7 1.€
Benefits paic (47.€) (39.9
Actuarial losses/(gain: 59.: 5.¢
Exchange effec (50.9) 15.1
Closing balanc: $817.] $819.¢

Fair value of plan assei
Opening balanc $790.: $768.€
Actual benefits pai (47.€) (39.9
Actual contributions by employ:t 11.¢ 10.¢
Actual return on asse 161.5 35.5
Exchange effec (53.5) 14.¢
Closing balanc: $862.: $790.:

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan $@%7.1 million and $819.8 million at December 20214 and 2013,
respectively.

For the vast majority of assets, a market appramaldopted to assess the fair value of the assighsthe inputs being
the quoted market prices for the actual securitedd in the relevant fund. For Level 3 assets whiegee is no ready
market and for which no indicative dealer prices avrailable, fund assets are independently evalpaféh the use of
agreed upon procedures conducted by an audit dinonavide independent confirmation that proper an
procedures are being followed. Plan assets thaheested in comingled funds are valued using &pnice or net asset
value that is based on the underlying investmehtiseofund. Level 3 assets include investmentgivagpe equities
valued using significant un-observable inputs.
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The fair values of pension assets by level of inperte as follows:

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Asset:

(in millions) (Level 1)
At December 31, 201

Fixed income securitie:
Debt securities issued by U.S. government a

government agencit $ 1.1
Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments

and government agenci 324.:
Corporate debt securitis 211.¢
Residential mortga-backed securitie 0.2
Other ass+-backed securitie 3.1

Equity securities
Equity securities held for proprietary investm

purpose: 134.1
Real estat 65.€
Other asset
Total assets at fair valt 739.¢
Cash 457
Total plan asset $ 785.f

At December 31, 201
Fixed income securitie:
Debt securities issued by U.S. government a

government agencie $ 1.5
Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments

and government agenci 198.%
Corporate debt securitis 275.k
Residential mortga-backed securitie 0.2
Other ass+-backed securitie 3.8

Equity securities
Equity securities held for proprietary investm

purpose: 156.7
Real estat 61.4
Other asset
Total assets at fair valt 697.¢
Cash 29.1
Total plan asset $ 726.1
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$
441
441
$ 44.1
$
38.c
38.c
$ 38.c

Total

324.%
211.¢

156.7
61.4
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The reconciliation of the fair value of the Plasets using significant unobservable inputs (LeYyel&s as follows:

Other
(in millions) Asset:
Balance at December 31, 2C $31.C
Realized/unrealized gains/(losse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 3.t
Relating to assets sold during the pe! 0.C
Purchases, issuances and settlerr 3.€
Exchange effec 0.2
Balance at December 31, 2C 38.:
Realized/unrealized gains/(losse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 7.2
Relating to assets sold during the pel 0.C
Purchases, issuances and settlerr 0.7
Exchange effec (2.2
Balance at December 31, 2C $44.1
The projected net pension credit for the year em@iacember 31, 2015 is as follows:
(in millions)
Service cos $ 1€
Interest cost on PB! 28.2
Expected return on plan ass (34.0)
Amortization of prior service crec (1.3
Amortization of actuarial net loss 5.3
$ (0.9
The following benefit payments are expected to belen
(in millions)
2015 $ 44.¢
2016 $ 44.1
2017 $ 44.7
2018 $ 45.2
2019 $ 45.¢
2020- 2024 $238.2
German plan

The Company also maintains an unfunded definedfibgramsion plan covering a number of its curreamd éormer
employees in Germany (the “German plan”). The Garpian is closed to new entrants and has no assets.
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(in millions)

German plan net pension charg
Service cos

Interest cost on PB!

Amortization of prior service cost/(cred
Amortization of actuarial net loss/(gai

German plan assumptions at December 31, |
Discount rate

Inflation rate

Rate of increase in compensation ley

Movements in PBO of the German plan are as follows:

(in millions)
Change in PBC
Opening balanc
Service cos
Interest cos
Amortization of prior service cost/(cred
Benefits paic
Actuarial losses/(gain:
Exchange effec

Closing balanc:

2013 2012
$ 0.2 $0.1
0.2 0.2
(0.1) 0.C
0.2 0.C
$ 0.6 $04
3.5( 3.2t
2.0( 2.0C
2.7¢ 2.7¢
2014 2013
$ 9.6 $9.2
0.2 0.2
0.2 0.2
0.C (0.0
0.2 (0.2
1.8 (0.4
(1.9) 0.
$10..  $9.6

The amount of unrecognized actuarial net losseshier comprehensive loss in respect of the Gerrtamip $2.7

million, net of tax of $0.7 million.

Other plans

Company contributions to defined contribution sceerduring 2014 were $8.2 million (2013 — $7.7 roid).
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Note 10. Income Taxes

A roll-forward of unrecognized tax benefits andaxsated accrued interest and penalties is as fstlow

Interest and Unrecognizec

(in millions) Penalties Tax Benefits Total

Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 0.4 $ 12.2 $12.€
Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc 0.C 0.2 0.2
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.2 0.C 0.2
Reductions due to lapsed statutes of limitat 0.C (0.2) (0.2
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 0.€ 12.2 12.¢
Current 0.9 (2.7 (3.0
Non-current $ 0.2 $ 9.t $ 9.8
Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 0.€ $ 12.2 $12.¢
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.€ 0.2 0.8
Reductions due to lapsed statutes of limitat (0.7 (0.5 (0.6
Closing balance at December 31, 2I 1.1 11.¢€ 13.C
Current (0.€) (6.2) (6.9
Non-current $ 0.t $ 5.7 $ 6.2
Opening balance at January 1, 2 $ 1.1 $ 11.¢ $13.C
Reductions for tax positions of prior peric (0.9) (3.€) (4.0
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.C 0.1 0.1
Additions for current year tax positio 0.C 0.2 0.2
Reductions due to lapsed statutes of limitat (0.2 (2.9 (3.1
Closing balance at December 31, 2I 0.t 5.7 6.2
Current 0.C 0.C 0.C
Non-current $ 0.E $ 5.7 6.2

All of the $6.2 million of unrecognized tax bensfiand interest and penalties, would impact owctife tax rate if
recognized.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties asedaiath uncertain tax positions as part of incaeees in our
consolidated statements of income.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns with the U.S. federal government, @aibus state and
foreign jurisdictions. As previously disclosed,aaecember 31, 2013, the Company and its U.Sidiakies were
subject to tax audits in the U.S.. On March 6, 2@hd federal income tax examination by the IRS2a09 was
effectively settled. The additional tax cost wasnmmal and resulted in a reduction of
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$3.6 million in unrecognized tax benefits and auatbn of $0.4 million in associated interest amaalties in the first
quarter of 2014. During the third quarter of 20ttdg Company recorded a reduction of $2.9 millionrmecognized tax
benefits and $0.2 million in associated interest p@nalties due to the expiration of applicabléusés of limitations
and there was a $0.3 million addition to unrecogaitax benefits recorded during the fourth quart&014.

The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries remain opexamination by the IRS for years 2011 onwarde Company’s
subsidiaries in foreign tax jurisdictions are opeexamination including France (2013 onwards),n@ety (2010
onwards), Switzerland (2013 onwards) and the Uriiegjdom (2013 onwards).

The sources of income before income taxes werellasvk:

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ 15.2 $10.C $ 5.6
Foreign 95.7 82.¢ 87.7

$110.¢ $92.€ $93.5

The components of income tax charges are summaaizéallows:

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012

Current:

Federa $ 45 $ 0.8 $ 2.2

State and loce 2.1 0.8 0.€

Foreign 14.€ 6.8 11.¢
21.5 8.4 14.7

Deferred:

Federa 3.3 1.7 11.4

State and loce 0.2 0.1 0.€

Foreign 1.7 4.8 (0.€)

5.2 6.€ 11.7

$26.€ $15.C $26.4

Cash payments for income taxes were $11.6 mil@d,1 million and $13.1 million during 2014, 2018Ja2012,
respectively.
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéalrbe

2014 2013 2012
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign income inclusior 5.5 4.2 10.5
Foreign tax rate differenti (14.¢) (14.¢) (16.9
Tax charge/(credit) from previous yei 4.7 (2.9) (0.€)
Net charge/(credit) from unrecognized tax ben (6.2) 0.2 0.&
Foreign currency translatic 1.C (2.7) (1.0)
Other items and adjustments, (1.2 (3.0 0.t

24.2% 16.2% 28.2%

Significant factors affecting the variation to staty rate are set out above and include foreigonme inclusions net of
foreign tax credits. The mix of taxable profits geated in the different geographical localitiesvimich the Group
operates had a significant positive impact on ffectve tax rate in 2014.
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Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesaaralyzed as follows:

(in millions)

Deferred tax assets

Foreign tax credit

Accrued expense

Stock options

Excess of tax over book basis in property, plaat@uipmen
Net operating loss carry forwar
Pension asse

Other intangible asse

Other

Subtotal

Less valuation allowanc

Total net deferred tax ass:

Deferred tax liabilities:

Excess of book over tax basis in property, pladt@guipmen
Goodwill amortizatior

Other intangible asse

Excess of book over tax basis in tax deductibledgoib
Excess of book over tax basis in intangible as

Pension liabilities

Other

Total deferred tax liabilitie
Net deferred tax (liability)/ass

Current portion of deferred tax ass
Deferred tax assets, net of current por
Current portion of deferred tax liabilitie
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current porti

Details of the deferred tax asset valuation allasesdre as follows:

(in millions)
At January 1
Change in foreign tax credi

At December 3:
80

2014 2013
$ 0.8 $ 4F
0.2 3.4
5.C 5.2
0.4 0.
0.€ 0.2
0.7 6.5
5.3 1.
5.4 3.
18. 25.7
0.C 0.C
$ 18. $25.7
$ (27 $(2.0
(9.€) (7.2)
0.C (0.2
(3.4) (0.2)
(7.2) (7.
(9.0) 0.C
(0.E) (0.
$(32.4)  $(18.1)
$(13.9 $ 7.€
$ 8.4 $ 8.7
0.7 8.€
0.C (0.2)
(23.0) (9.
$(13.¢ $ 7.6
201< 2012
$0.C $(7.E
Jexe £
0.C $0.C
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As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2014, the Gongoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceeiquired for $0.6 million (2013 — $0.3 million) ¥ net operating
loss carry forwards and that no valuation allowasaequired against its foreign tax credit caogwfards (2013 — $0.0
million).

The net operating loss carry forwards arose irlkl& and in one of the Company’s foreign subsidsarirhe net
operating loss carry forwards in the U.S. arosénprior periods as a result of state tax lodsésexpected that
sufficient taxable profits will be generated in tH65. against which these net operating loss darvyards can be
relieved prior to their expiration in 2021. Thedamn tax credit carry forwards arose in the U.Sorior periods. The
Company has determined that future foreign incamkusions will be sufficient to utilize all of tH0.8 million (2013 —
$4.5 million) of the foreign tax credit carry forvas prior to their expiration in 2021 and therefocevaluation
allowance is required. The net operating loss clmyards in one of the Company’s foreign subsidmarose in the
current period and it is expected that sufficiex@able profits will be generated against which ¢hest operating loss
carry forwards can be relieved.

Should it be determined in the future that it idormger more likely than not that these assetsheilfealized, a
valuation allowance would be required, and the Camgfs operating results would be adversely affecigathg the
period in which such a determination would be made.

The Company is in a position to control whethenairto repatriate foreign earnings and we intengetananently
reinvest earnings overseas to fund overseas salis&liNo taxes have been provided for the unrechéarnings of our
overseas subsidiaries as any tax basis differeetaing to investments in these overseas submdiare considered to
be permanent in duration. The amount of unremitatings at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was appateiyr743
million and $605 million, respectively. If thesereimgs are remitted, additional taxes could resfi#r offsetting
foreign income taxes paid although the calculatibtihe additional taxes is not practicable to cotamt this time.

Note 11. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

(in millions) 2014 2013
Revolving credit facility $139.( $142.(
Promissory not 0.C 5.C
Other lon¢-term debr 0.4 1.C
139.¢ 148.(
Less current portio (0.4) (5.9

$139.( $142.7
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On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility which provides for borromgs by us of up
to $100.0 million. The facility carries an intereate based on U.S. dollar LIBOR plus a margineifdeen 1.50% and
2.25% which is dependent on the Company’s ratioedfdebt to EBITDA. EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of
liquidity defined in the credit facility. The fady can be drawn down until it expires on Decemb&r2016. We repaid
the previous finance facility, which was due to iexpn February 6, 2012, upon entering into the nedit facility.

On August 28, 2013, we amended our existing fiveryevolving credit facility (“the facility”). Thamendment
provides for an increase in the facility availatilehe Company and certain subsidiaries of the Gamgrom $100.0
million to $150.0 million and retains the term arwhditions of the original facility through to Deuber 2016. In
addition, an amendment allowed the Company to tcareadditional amount of $50.0 million to be coitbed by the
lenders, of which $30.0 million was committed ie flourth quarter of 2013.

On July 31, 2014 the Company increased its borrgwapacity by $20.0 million such that its creditifidy now
provides for borrowings by us of up to $200.0 roitliuntil it expires on December 14, 2016 and magirag/n down in
full in the U.S..

The Company’s credit facility contains restrictslauses which may constrain our activities andtlmar operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the credit facility and include atemgl adverse change
to our assets, operations or financial conditidme Tacility contains a number of restrictions thait our ability,
amongst other things, and subject to certain lidnéeceptions, to incur additional indebtednesgjgeeour assets as
security, guarantee obligations of third partieakeninvestments, undergo a merger or consolidaisppse of assets,
or materially change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility contains terms wfhj if breached, would result in it becoming regagan demand. It
requires, among other matters, compliance witifdhewing financial covenant ratios measured oruartgrly basis:
(1) the ratio of net debt to EBITDA shall not beegter than 2.5:1 and (2) the ratio of EBITDA to imrest shall not
be less than 4.0:1. Management has determinethin&ompany has not breached these covenants booutpe
period to December 31, 2014 and expects to nothréeese covenants for the next 12 months. Thetdesdity is
secured by a number of fixed and floating charges oertain assets which include key operating sitdhe Company
and its subsidiaries.

On September 13, 2011, the Company settled the Neld¥l Corporation civil complaint. The settlemegteement
included the Company issuing a $15.0 million praroig note to NewMarket Corporation payable in thegeal annue
installments (carrying simple interest at 1% perwan), the final installment of which was paid orp&enber 9, 2014.
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The weighted average rate of interest on borrowmas 1.7% at December 31, 2014 and 1.6% at Decedih@013.
Payments of interest on long-term debt were $21Bomj $1.0 million and $0.5 million in 2014, 20E3d 2012,
respectively.

The net cash outflows in respect of refinancingsasere $0.1 million, $0.9 million and $0.0 milliam 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

Note 12. Plant Closure Provisions

The principal site giving rise to environmental egation liabilities is the manufacturing site deEmere Port in the
United Kingdom, which management believes is tkedagoing manufacturer of TEL. There are alsoremvnental
remediation liabilities on a much smaller scalegspect of our other manufacturing sites in the. drfsl Europe. The
liability for estimated closure costs of Innospetianufacturing facilities includes costs for deemnination and
environmental remediation activities (remediatiaen demand for TEL diminishes. Severance provssiave been
made in relation to Corporate personnel and pereonreach of the three reporting segments.

Movements in the provisions are summarized asvi@lio

(in millions) Severanci Remediatior Total

Total at January 1, 207 $ 1E $ 27.1 $28.¢€
Charge for the perio 0.2 4.C 4.2
Utilized in the perioc (0.€) (2.2 (2.7
Exchange effec 0.C 0.2 0.2
Total at December 31, 20: 1.1 29.c 30.4
Due within one yea (0.7 (5.0 (5.1
Due after one ye: $ 1C $ 24.% $25.2
Total at January 1, 207 $ 11 $ 29.2 $30.4
Charge for the perio 0.C 3.€ 3.6
Utilized in the perioc (0.7) (1.9 (2.0
Exchange effec 0.C 0.1 0.1
Total at December 31, 20: 1.C 31.4 32.4
Due within one yea 0.C (6.2) (6.2)
Due after one yes $ 1.C $ 25.2 $26.2
Total at January 1, 20! $ 1.C 31.¢ $32.4
Charge for the perio 0.C 5.C 5.C
Utilized in the perioc 0.C (2.0 (2.0
Released in the peric (1.0) 0.C (1.0
Exchange effec 0.C 0.9 0.3
Total at December 31, 20: 0.C 34.1 34.1
Due within one yea 0.C (5.7) (5.7)
Due after one yes $ 0C $ 28.4 $28.4
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Amounts due within one year refer to provisions kehexpenditure is expected to arise within one pé#ne balance
sheet date. Severance charges are recognizedimctme statement in selling, general and admatist expenses.
Remediation costs are recognized in cost of goolds s

Remediation

The remediation provision represents the Compdiapdity for environmental liabilities and asse&tirement
obligations. The charge for the period in 2014 espnts the accretion expense recognized of $2li@meind a further
$2.2 million primarily in respect of changes in #xpected cost and scope of future remediationitie. A discount
rate of 8.92% was used in valuing the remediati@vipion.

We recognize environmental liabilities when theg probable and costs can be reasonably estimaig@dsset
retirement obligations when there is a legal oltiayaand costs can be reasonably estimated. Thep@ayrhas to
anticipate the program of work required and th@ass$ed future expected costs, and comply withrenvwental
legislation in the countries in which it operates$as operated in. The Company views the costacdting our
Ellesmere Port site as contingent upon if and wheacates the site because there is no presemitioh to do so. The
Company has further determined that, due to thentmia product life of TEL particularly in the matkfor aviation
gasoline and other products being manufactureth@site, there are uncertainties as to the prabahiid timing of the
expected costs. Such uncertainties have been evedith estimating the provision.

Remediation expenditure utilized provisions of $&illion, $1.9 million and $2.1 million in 2014, 268 and 2012,
respectively.

Note 13. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be receiveddiban asset or paid to transfer a liability inaderly transaction
between market participants at the measuremen{eteprice). The Company utilizes a mid-marketing
convention for valuing the majority of its assets &iabilities measured and reported at fair valilee Company utilize
market data or assumptions that market participaotdd use in pricing the asset or liability, inding assumptions
about risk and the risks inherent in the inputstovaluation technique. These inputs can be eatiBervable, market
corroborated or generally unobservable. The Compainyarily applies the market approach for recgtiair value
measurements and endeavors to utilize the bedablainformation. Accordingly, the Company utilizealuation
techniques that maximize the use of observabletsngod minimize the use of unobservable inputs.tmpany is
able to classify fair value balances based on tiserwability of those inputs. The Company givestighest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurethdfinancial assets and liabilities are classifretheir entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is sigaificto the fair value
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measurement. The Compasyssessment of the significance of a particufautito the fair value measurement requ
judgment and may affect the valuation of fair vadissets and liabilities and their placement withanfair value
hierarchy Levels. In 2014, the Company evaluateddir value hierarchy levels assigned to its asaetl liabilities, an
concluded that there should be no transfers intmbof Levels 1, 2 and 3.

The following table presents the carrying amourt fair values of the Company’s assets and liabditheasured on a
recurring basis:

December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair

(in millions) Amount Value  Amount Value
Assets
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 41¢€¢ $41¢€ $ 80z $ 80.z
Shor-term investment 4.7 4.7 6.€ 6.€
Derivatives (Level 1 measurement)
Other nor-current asset:

Foreign currency forward exchange contr: 0.C 0.C 1.C 1.C
Liabilities
Non-derivatives:
Long-term debt (including current portio $ 139.« $139.« $ 148.( $148.(
Derivatives (Level 1 measurement)
Other nor-current liabilities:

Foreign currency forward exchange contr: 1.6 1.6 0.C 0.C
Non-financial liabilities (Level 3 measurement):
Stock equivalent unit 7.2 7.2 12.1 12.1
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati 95.2 95.2 4.€ 4.€

The following methods and assumptions were usegtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, and short-term invedsnéhe carrying amount approximates fair value becafisiee
short-term maturities of such instruments.

Longc-term debt:Long-term debt principally comprises the revolvorgdit facility, which was entered into in Decembe
2011 and term loans in our recently acquired Inddpace business. The carrying amount of long-tezit d
approximates to the fair value.

Acquisitior-related contingent consideratio@eferred consideration payable in cash is discaliaéts fair value.
Where deferred consideration is contingent upordetermined financial targets, an estimate of gnevialue of the
likely consideration payable is made.
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Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives relating to interestie swaps, foreign currency forward exchange aotgr
and commaodity swaps are derived from current seéfg prices and comparable contracts using cuassimptions.

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts primagiate to contracts entered into to hedge fukin@wn
transactions or hedge balance sheet net cashgmssifihe movements in the carrying amounts and/édires of these
contracts are largely due to changes in excharigs against the U.S. dollar.

Stock equivalent unitS:he fair values of stock equivalent units are dal@d at each balance sheet date using either:
Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo method.

Note 14. Derivative Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivatinstruments and does not trade them. The Compaey use
derivatives to manage certain interest rate, foreigrency exchange rate and raw material costsexps, as the need
arises. As at December 31, 2014 and December 338, th@ Company did not hold any interest rate wr meaterial
derivatives.

The Company enters into various foreign currencwéwd exchange contracts to minimize currency emghaate
exposure from expected future cash flows. As aebdier 31, 2014 the contracts have maturity datep ¢d one year
from the date of inception. These foreign curreftcyward exchange contracts have not been desigaataddging
instruments, and their impact on the income stat¢rioe 2014 was a gain of $3.4 million.

The Company sells a range of Fuel Specialtiespfagnce Chemicals and Octane Additives to majareditheries and
chemical companies throughout the world. Credittérongoing credit evaluation and account moniipprocedures
are intended to minimize bad debt risk. Collatesalot generally required.
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Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgaswuarily for office space, motor vehicles and eas items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are ¢éxgéa be renewed and replaced in the normal cairsasiness.
Rental expense was $3.7 million in 2014, $3.1 onillin 2013 and $2.9 million in 2012. Future comnahts under
non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

2015 $41
2016 3.2
2017 2.8
2018 2.2
2019 1.2
Thereaftel 2.5

Environmental remediation obligations

Commitments in respect of environmental remediatibiigations are disclosed in Note 12 of the Nadethe
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contingencies
Legal matters

While we are involved from time to time in claimsdelegal proceedings that result from, and arededal to, the
conduct of our business including business and cemtiad litigation, employee and product liabilithaens, there are t
material pending legal proceedings to which the @amy or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or bfcki any of their
property is subject. It is possible however, thatdverse resolution of an unexpectedly large numbsuch individua
items could in the aggregate have a material adwdfect on results of operations for a particykzar or quarter.

Guarantees

The Company and certain of the Company’s cons@dlatibsidiaries are contingently liable for certigations of
affiliated companies primarily in the form of guatees of debt and performance under contractseshieto as a
normal business practice. This includes guarardkren-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties. Aseaémber 31,
2014, such guarantees which are not recognizedlabkties in the consolidated financial statemestsounted to $3.0
million.
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Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsragnine Company would be required to perform stidhe
affiliated company fail to fulfill its obligationander the arrangements. In some cases, the guai@négements have
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms gfuamntees
from securities held of the guaranteed partiestass

The Company and its affiliates have numerous l@ngitsales and purchase commitments in their vabaesess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled with adverse consequences material to the Company.

Note 16. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock
(number of shares in thousands 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
At January 1 29,55F 29,55f 29,55¢ 5,20¢ 6,22: 6,507
Exercise of option 0 0 0 (105 (632 (339
Acquisitior-related stock issue 0 0 0 0 @7 0
Stock purchase 0 0 0 16C 89 48
At December 3: 29,55F 2955f 2955F 526: 5,208 6,227

At December 31, 2014, the Company had authorizethwan stock of 40,000,000 shares (2013 — 40,000, 06€$)ed
shares at December 31, 2014, were 29,554,500 2@93%54,500) and treasury stock amounted to 48@3Fhares
(2013 — 5,207,947).

Note 17. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Stock option plans

The Company has five active stock option plans, diwwhich provide for the grant of stock optionsetmployees, one
provides for the grant of stock options to non-esgpk directors, and another provides for the grastock options to
key executives on a matching basis provided theyaysroportion of their annual bonus to purchasenscon stock in
the Company on the open market or from the Comp&ing fifth plan is a savings plan which providestfte grant of
stock options to all Company employees provideg ttmmmit to make regular savings over a pre-defpexibd which
can then be used to purchase common stock upanyesithe options. The stock options have vestiegods ranging
from 24 months to 6 years and in all cases stotbmg granted expire within 10 years of the datgraht. All grants
are at the sole discretion of the Compensation Citterof the Board of Directors. Grants may begqutiat market
value or at a premium or discount. The aggregamelbeu of shares of common stock reserved for issuieunich can be
granted under the plans is 2,640,000.
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The fair value of stock options is measured orgtiaat date using either the Black-Scholes modeh oases where
performance criteria are dependent upon exterctdifmsuch as the Companystock price, using a Monte Carlo mo
The following weighted average assumptions weré tseéletermine the grant-date fair value of options

2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield 1.32% 0.11% 0.0(%
Expected life 5 year: 5 year: 5 year:
Volatility 30.7% 41.1% 60.1%
Risk free interest rai 0.97% 0.4€% 0.4%%

The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the year eridecember 31,
2014:

Weighted
Average
Number of Weighted Grant-Date
Average
Options Exercise Price Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 447,39( $ [SE
Grantec— at discoun 376,92 $ 27.6¢ $ 14.2¢
— at market valu 21,95¢ $ 46.0: $ 14.1¢
Exercisec (103,28 $ 4.47
Forfeited (14,357) $ 5.84
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 728,64( $ 19.5¢

At December 31, 2014, there were 134,921 stocloogtihat were exercisable, 51,001 had performamueitions
attached.

The Company’s policy is to issue shares from trgastock to holders of stock options who exercigese options, but
if sufficient treasury stock is not available, thempany will issue previously unissued sharesaifksto holders of
stock options who exercise options.

The stock option compensation cost for 2014, 2082012 was $2.6 million, $2.5 million and $3.1lroi,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiaaercised in 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $0.9 milkdn7 million and
$1.5 million, respectively.

The total compensation cost related to non-vestazk ®ptions not yet recognized at December 3142Gds $4.7
million and this cost is expected to be recognizeer the weighted-average period of 2.30 years.

The cash tax benefit realized from stock optiorr@ses totaled $0.9 million, $5.7 million and $2aillion in 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively. The excess tax berlafisified in financing activities was $0.4 mifids3.8 million and
$2.2 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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No stock options awards were modified in 2014, 26013012.

Stock equivalent units

The Company awards Stock Equivalent Units (“SEWwin time to time as a long-term performance incentSEUs
are cash settled equity instruments conditionatextain performance criteria and linked to the Bpex Inc. share
price. SEUs have vesting periods ranging from 1hthmoto 4 years and in all cases SEUs grantedespihin 10
years of the date of grant. Grants may be pricedaaket value or at a premium or discount. Thereifimit to the
number of SEUs that can be granted. As at DeceBihet014 the liability for SEUs of $7.2 millionlscated in
accrued liabilities in the consolidated balanceethentil they are cash settled.

The fair value of SEUs is measured at the balaheetgdate using either the Black-Scholes modeh cases where
performance criteria are dependent upon exterctbfmsuch as the Compasystock price, using a Monte Carlo mo
The following assumptions were used to determieddir value of SEUs at the balance sheet dates:

2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield 1.2%% 1.06% 0.0(%
Volatility 26.(% 37.6% 43.8%
Risk free interest ral 1.1(% 0.7¢% 0.36%

The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s SEUs for the year ended Decembe2(BHU:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Grant-Date
Number Average
of SEUs Exercise Price Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 403,26 $ 3.64
Grantec— at discoun 54,71 $ 0.0cC $ 33.8¢
— at market valu 7,147 $ 46.0: $ 14.1¢
Exercisec (170,31) $ 4.7(C
Forfeited (8,247) $ 5.4¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 286,56. $ 3.41

At December 31, 2014, there were 91,226 SEUs tbat wxercisable, 79,868 had performance condititashed.

The charges for SEUs are spread over the lifeeattard subject to a revaluation to fair value epdrter. The
revaluation may result in a charge or a credihihcome statement in the quarter dependent uposhare price and
other performance criteria.
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The SEU compensation cost for 2014, 2013 and 2G2$2.0 million, $7.1 million and $6.8 million, pesctively. The
total intrinsic value of SEUs exercised in 201412@nd 2012 was $3.7 million, $2.2 million and $hifion,
respectively.

The weighted-average remaining vesting period ofvested SEUs is 1.17 years.

Additional exceptional longierm incentive plan

In the first quarter of 2014, Innospec implemerdadadditional exceptional long-term incentive piameward selected
executives with a cash bonus for delivering exosati performance. One of the elements of the arayable only if
the Innospec share performance matches or outrpesfihat of competitors, as measured by the Rua8é0 Index,
over the performance period January 1, 2014 to ibbee 31, 2016. The maximum cash bonus payable uhider
element of the plan is $3 million and is accouritgdas share-based compensation. As such, thediaie of these
liability cash-settled long-term incentives is edéted on a quarterly basis. The fair value isudated using a Monte
Carlo model and is summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2014

Balance at January $ 0.C
Compensation charge for the per 0.1
Balance at December . $ 0.1

The following assumptions were used in the Montddaodel at December 31, 2014:

2014
Dividend yield 1.2%
Volatility of Innosper’'s share pric 26.(%
Risk free interest rai 1.1(%
Note 18. Reclassifications out of Accumulated &¢r Comprehensive Loss
Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprsive loss for 2014 were:
P Amount Affected Line Item in the
(in millions) Reclassifiec
Statement where

Details about AOCL Component: from AOCL Net Income is Presentei
Defined benefit pension plan items
Amortization of prior service crec $ 1.9 Seevbelow
Amortization of actuarial net loss 5.4 Seevbelow

4.1 Total before ta

0.8 Income tax expens

3.2 Net of tax
Total reclassifications $ Sa Net of tax

(1) These items are included in the computation opeeibdic pension cost. See Note 9 of the Noteheédtonsolidated Financial Stateme
for additional information
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Defined

Benefit Cumulative

Pension Translation
(in millions) Plan ltems Adjustments Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (115.9) $ (31.0 $(146.9)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before reclasgifins 0.C (18.0) (18.0)
Actuarial net gains/(losses) arising during ther 54.7 0.C 54.7
Amounts reclassified from AOC 3.2 0.C 3.2
Net current period other comprehensive incomel)| 58.(C (18.0 40.C
Balance at December 31, 2C $ (57.9 $  (49.0 $(106.9)

Note 19. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemsn

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-8&venue from Contracts with Custom@isSU 2014-09”), which
requires an entity to recognize the amount of reedn which it expects to be entitled for the tfansf promised gooc
or services to customers. The ASU will replace neagtting revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GA®ken it
becomes effective. ASU 2014-09 is effective forwaairperiods, and interim periods within those yebegjinning after
December 15, 2016. Early application is not peeditiThe standard permits the use of either thegpéctive or
cumulative effect transition method. The Compamgvaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will haveits
consolidated financial statements and related@isces. The Company has not yet selected a t@msitethod nor has
it determined the effect of the standard on itsoomg) financial reporting.

Note 20. Related Party Transactions

Mr. Robert |. Paller has been a non-executive threaf the Company since November 1, 2009. The Gomas
retained and continues to retain Smith, Gambreéisell, LLP (“SGR”), a law firm with which Mr. Hat holds a
position. In 2014, 2013 and 2012 the Company imzlifees payable to SGR of $1.1 million, $1.0 nmilland $0.8
million, respectively. As at December 31, 2014, dheunt due to SGR from the Company was $0.1 millidecember
31, 2013 — $0.2 million).

Note 21. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtioeiglate that the consolidated financial stateswete issued,
and has concluded that no additional disclosuresegjuired in relation to events subsequent t#tence sheet date.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation carried out as of the emldeoperiod covered by this report, under the sagen and with the
participation of our management, our Chief Exeautfficer and our Chief Financial Officer concludédt the
Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures’d@ged in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of theuSies
Exchange Act of 1934) were not effective as of Dalwer 31, 2014 due to the material weakness desichidlew.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand the Chief Financial Officer, is responsibleestablishing
and maintaining adequate internal control overrfaia reporting (within the meaning of Rule 13aflbfder the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). The Company'srimdl control over financial reporting is a procdssigned to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyabilfinancial reporting and the preparation imfancial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accourgimntriples generally accepted in the United StateSmerica.

Internal control over financial reporting includd®se policies and procedures that:

* pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaeasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and
dispositions of our asse!

* provide reasonable assurance that transactione@sled as necessary to permit preparation ofidiab
statements in accordance with accounting princigégerally accepted in the United States of Ameaaitd tha
our receipts and expenditures are being made ordgdéordance with authorization of our managemedt a
directors; anc

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, os
disposition of assets that could have a materfatebn the consolidated financial stateme

Due to its inherent limitations, management doddmrbeve that internal control over financial regoay will prevent ot
detect all errors or fraud. In addition, projec8af any evaluation of effectiveness to future gasiare subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate becauskaniges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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On October 27, 2014, the Company acquired 100%eoftembership interests in Independence Oilfieldndibals
LLC (“Independence”). Management excluded fromagsessment of the effectiveness of the Compangmal
control over financial reporting Independence’&inal control over financial reporting associatethwotal assets of
$234.7 million (of which $150.8 million represeigtsodwill and other intangibles included within eope of the
assessment) and total revenues of $35.0 millidadec in the consolidated financial statementhief@ompany as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Based on criteria ilnternal Control — Integrated Framework (201i83ued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission the evi@naf our management, including the Chief Exacutfficer
and the Chief Financial Officer, concluded that@@mpany did not maintain effective internal cohtreer financial
reporting as of December 31, 2014 due to the nztegakness described below.

Treatment of Intercompany Loans Denominated in €hwies Other Than the Entity’s Functional Currency:

The Company lacked effective controls to ensurgteer application of ASC 83Bpreign Currency Mattersrelatec
to the treatment of foreign currency gains or less® intercompany loan balances denominated irccies other than
the entity’s functional currency. According to A830, intercompany loans, denominated in currerwtiesr than the
entity’s functional currency are re-measured ormoplic basis with resulting gains or losses reedri the
consolidated statement of income. If settlemenbisplanned or anticipated in the foreseeable &,tilven foreign
currency exchange gains and losses are to be sgtwithin accumulated other comprehensive incontkimnvthe
equity section of the balance sheet, as the trineaand balances are considered to be of a lemginhvestment
nature. The Company determined it was incorredlgwdating foreign exchange on intercompany lodarizes and
incorrectly including gains and losses in othepime/(expense) in the consolidated statement ofmec@ther than
accumulated other comprehensive income in the tiolased financial statements. The Company did nainiain
effective internal control over the calculationimiercompany foreign currency exchange gains adssnd lacked an
effective control to assess and document at incepthether or not intercompany loan balances arg-erm in nature
The ineffectiveness of the control environmentrmiid result in an adjustment to the current yearfoial statements or
a restatement of prior year financial statements.

Our independent registered public accounting firBMG Audit Plc, has audited our consolidated finahstatements
and the effectiveness of our internal control direancial reporting as of December 31, 2014. Thegort is included i
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The Company is currently engaged in carrying autétmediation plan which includes the following:
* Performing a review and confirmation of the coreealuation and documentation of certain intercamyy
loans including improving the processes and castimkensure proper application of ASC 8
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* Implementing additional procedures to ensure thauation of foreign exchange gains and losse
intercompany loans to be included in other compmnsive income are corre

Although the Company has made progress in this adghtional steps need to be taken, as indicdiedeg and
sufficient time needs to elapse before managenantaonclude that newly implemented controls areaipe
effectively and that the material weakness has bdequately remediated.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reportng

The Company is continuously seeking to improveetfieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This is intended to result in refinemdntprocesses throughout the Company. As previalisblosed, we are
continuing with the process of developing a nevmpanywide, information system platform which began ii 20The
platform provider is well established in the marKidtie implementation is a phased, risk-manageel deiployment
following a multistage user acceptance program wiehexisting platform providing a fallback positioNe
implemented the new platform at the majority of bu§. sites in the third quarter of 2013. Our nehdse of
implementation includes the majority of reportingts outside of the U.S. and is planned for thetfoquarter of 2015.
In connection with this implementation, the Compéag updated its internal controls over finana@glarting, as
necessary, to accommodate modifications to itsnessi processes and accounting procedures. As eat@nse, none
of the changes which were identified in connectiath the evaluation required by paragraph (d) ofeRud.3a-15 and
15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, maaterially affected, or are reasonably likely totenially affect
the Company’s internal control over financial repuy.

ltem 9B Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information set forth under the headings “Reekbn of Two Class Il Directors”, “Election of Oi#ass Il
Director”, “Information about the Board of Directgt “Information about the Executive Officers” aftfiection 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complianda”the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting afcBholders to be he
on May 6, 2015 (“the Proxy Statement”) is incorgedaherein by reference.

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethasapplies to the Company’s directors, officaamd employees,
including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief FinaaoOfficer and Principal Accounting Officer. Anyogkholder who
would like to receive a copy of our Code of Ethiagy Corporate Governance Guidelines or any cleadeour Board’s
committees may obtain them without charge by wgitm the General Counsel and Chief Compliance éxffilnnospec
Inc., 8310 South Valley Highway, Suite 350, EngledoColorado, 80112, e-mail investor@innospecima.cbhese
and other documents can also be accessed via thpadg’s web site, www.innospecinc.com.

The Company intends to disclose on its websiteaamgndments to, or waivers from, its Code of Etthes are require
to be publicly disclosed pursuant to the ruleshef SEC or NASDAQ.

Information regarding the Audit Committee of theaBa of Directors, including membership and reqeisitancial
expertise, set forth under the headings “Corpdeéateernance — Board Committees — Audit Committeel ‘sudit
Committee Report” in the 2015 Proxy Statementésiporated herein by reference.

Information regarding the procedures by which staditers may recommend nominees to the Board otcidire set
forth under the heading “Corporate Governance +@&ammittees — Nominating and Governance Comriittethe
2015 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein byreefse.

Item 11 Executive Compensatior

The information set forth under the headings “ExeeuCompensation,” “Corporate Governance — Boasth@ittees —
Compensation Committee — Compensation Committegldaks and Insider Participation” and “Compensatio
Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement is incosped herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under the heading “Infatran About our Common Stock Ownership”the Proxy Stateme
is incorporated herein by reference.
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Shares Authorized for |1 ssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information set forth in the table under thadieg “Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy &tagnt is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information set forth under the headings “Ger@ther Transactions and Relationships”, “Certather
Transactions Approval Policy” and “Corporate Gowarece — Director Independence” in the Proxy Statemsen
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information regarding fees and services relatatiécCompanys independent registered public accounting firmMG-
Audit Plc, is provided under the heading “Principatountant Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statéaued is
incorporated herein by reference. Information rdgey the Audit Committee’s pre-approval policiesigmocedures is
provided under the heading “Audit Committee Prerapal Policies and Procedures” in the Proxy Statdraad is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
@ @ Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements (includingsjoof Innospec Inc. and its subsidiaries, togr
with the report of KPMG Audit Plc dated February 2015, are set forth in Item
2 Financial Statement Schedules
Financial statement schedules have been omitted #iey are either included in the finan«
statements, not applicable or not requil
(3) Exhibits

2.1 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement among 1Q@itys, LLC, Innospec Oil Fiel
Chemicals, LLC and Innospec dated as of Septenthe2(®.4 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 of the Compar's Form &K on October 31, 2014

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioin® Company (Incorporated by refere
to Exhibit 3.1 of the Compa’s Form 1-K on March 16, 2006

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company ( parated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of
the Compan’'s Form 1-Q on May 10, 2011’

10.1 Executive Service Agreement of Mr. PJ Boon dateteJuy 2009 (Incorporated by referenct
Exhibit 10.1 of the Compars Form K on May 27, 2009).

10.2 Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie (Incorporabgdeference to Exhibit 10.23 of tl
Compan’s Form 1K on March 28, 2003).

10.3 Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessner (ipomated by reference to Exhibit 10.2€
the Compan’'s Form 1-K on March 31, 2005).

10.4 Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated @r 11, 2005, (Incorporated by refere
to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K on Octoh&, 2005) and Executive Service
Agreement dated April 2, 2009. (Incorporated berefce to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s
Form &K on April 3, 2009). *
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10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated Juhe2B06 (Incorporated by reference
Exhibit 99.2 of the Compars Form -K on June 30, 2006).

Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option P0&8 (Incorporated by reference to
Appendix A of the Compar's Proxy Statement on April 1, 2011

Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan 2008 (pwated by reference to Appendix B of
Compan’s Proxy Statement on April 1, 2011)

Innospec Inc. Non Employee Direct’” Stock Option Plan 2008 (Incorporated by referenc
Appendix C of the Compars Proxy Statement on April 1, 2011)

Innospec Inc. Sharesave Plan 2008 (Incorporatedfeyence to Appendix D of the Comp’s
Proxy Statement on March 31, 2008

Innospec Inc. Executive -Investment Stock Plan 2004, as amended by the/Ainsindmen
2006 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1¢hef Company’s Form 10-K on February 17,
2012). *

$100,000,000 Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agmnent dated December 14, 2011 v
Lloyds TSB Bank plc as agent and security agemfimorated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Compan’'s Form K on December 19, 2011

Contract of Employment, David E. Williams, dateg&enber 17, 2009 (Incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp’s Form -K on September 14, 2009)

Letters dated December 1, 2010 from the Board céddors to the following officers regardil
one off bonus payments: Patrick Williams, lan Pn@teson, Philip J Boon, lan McRobbie and
Brian Watt (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit1) 10.13, 10.14, 10.15 and 10.16 of the
Compan’s Form 1-K on February 18, 2011)

Reward for Exceptional Performance One off BonasmPJanuary 200- December 2012: Bria
Watt (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2r@f Company’s Form 10-Q on November 1,
2012). *

Supplemental Agreement, dated August 28, 2013, grtf@mCompany, certain subsidiaries
the Company, and various lenders, including LIoy88 Bank Plc, as agent and security agent
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of th@panys Form &K on August 29, 2013

Form of Indemnification Agreement for individual wis an officer (Incorporated by referenc
Exhibit 10.1 of the Compars Form K filed on February 27, 2014
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10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

12.1

14

16

21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2
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Form of Indemnification Agreement for individual wis a director (Incorporated by referenc
Exhibit 10.2 of the Compars Form K filed on February 27, 2014

Form of Indemnification Agreement for individual wis an officer and director (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Comp’s Form &K filed on February 27, 2014

Employment contract for Brian Watt (IncorporatedRsference to Exhibit 10.4 of tl
Compan’s Form 1-Q filed on May 7, 2014).

Innospec Inc. 2014 Lo-Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by Referencexbilkit 10.5 of the
Compan’s Form 1-Q filed on May 7, 2014).

Increase Confirmation Letter, dated July 31, 2@tong the Company, certain subsidiarie
the Company, and U.S. Bank N.A. (Incorporated lgresce to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s
Form &K filed on July 31, 2014,

Computation of Financial Ratios (filed herewit

The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics (as updated) (parated by reference to Exhibit 14 of |
Compan’s Form 1-K on February 17, 2012

Letter regarding change in certifying accountartedaune 17, 2011 (Incorporated by refere
to Exhibit 16.1 of the Compa’s Form K on June 17, 2011

Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (fileddweith).
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting, KPMG Audit Plc (filed herewith’

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursiido Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer to Sen 906 of the Sarban-Oxley Act of 200z
(filed herewith).

XBRL Instance Document and Related Ite
* Denotes a management contract or compensatory
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaitthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. By: /s/ PATRICK S. WILLIAMS
(Registrant Patrick S. Williams
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 17, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@apa indicated as of February 17, 2015:

/s/ MILTON C. BLACKMORE Chairman and Directc
Milton C. Blackmore

/s/ IAN P. CLEMINSON Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
lan P. Cleminsol

/s/ PHILIP A. CURRAN Group Financial Controller (Principal Accounti
Philip A. Curran Officer)

/sl HUGH G. C. ALDOUS Director

Hugh G. C. Aldou:

/s MARTIN M. HALE Director

Martin M. Hale

/s LAWRENCE J. PADFIELL Director

Lawrence J. Padfiel

/s/ ROBERT I. PALLEF Director

Robert I. Palle

/s/ JOACHIM ROESER Director

Joachim Roese
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EXHIBIT 12.1 — STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF F INANCIAL RATIOS
(in millions except financial ratios, share and peshare data)

2014

2013

2012 2011

Exhibit 12.1

2010

1. NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC. AS A PERCENTAGE OF
SALES

A Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 84.1 77.¢ 66.¢ $ 471 $ 69.C

B Net sale $ 960.¢ 818.¢ 776.. $ 774 $ 683.2

A % of B 8.8% 9.5% 8.€% 6.1% 10.2%
2. EFFECTIVE TAX RATE ASA PERCENTAGE

C Income taxe $ 26.¢ 15.C 262 $ 31 $ (43

D Income before income ta $ 110.¢ 92.¢ 932 $ 50z $ 65.€

C%ofD 24.2% 16.2% 28.2% 6.2% -6.€%
3. CURRENT RATIO

E Current asse $ 4142 407.¢ 296.6 $ 320.c $ 321.¢

F Current liabilitie $ 222.¢ 155.¢ 147.2 $ 146.C $ 158.¢

Ratio of Eto F 1.¢ 2.€ 2.C 2.2 2.C
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC.

G Net income attributable to Innospec $ 84.1 77.¢ 66.¢ $ 471 $ 69.¢

H Basic shares outstand 24,39 23,65. 23,187 23,56¢  23,75¢

I Diluted shares outstandi 24,87¢  24,15¢ 23,85( 24,52( 24,81«

G/H  Basicearnings per share attributable tm$pec Inc $ 3.4t 3.2¢ 28¢ $ 200 $ 2.9¢

G/l Dilutedearnings per share attributablénnospec Inc $ 3.3¢ 3.22 281 $ 19 $ 2.82

Shares in thousands, earnings per share attrileut@dhnospec Inc. in dollars.



EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerlar
Innospec Gmbh (Switzerlan

Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (US,
Innospec Active Chemicals Limited (U.k
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germa
Innospec Developments Limited (U.k
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K

Innospec France SA (Franc

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (US
Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited (U.}
Innospec Holdings Limited (U.K

Innospec International Limited (U.K
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germar
Innospec Limited (U.K.

Innospec Spain SL (Spai

Innospec Trading Limited (U.K

Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K

Novoktan GmbH (Germany

OBOAdler Company Limited (U.K.
Societa Italiana Additivi Per Carburanti S.r.la(it)
Innospec Oil Field Chemicals LLC (US.,
Innospec International Holdings LLC (US.
Independence Oilfield Chemicals LLC (US

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Innospec Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrélggstration statements (No. 333-131687, 333-1924333-174050, and 333-174439) on
Form S-8 of Innospec Inc. of our report dated Fakyrd 7, 2015, with respect to the consolidatedrzaasheets of Innospec Inc. as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related cdasetl statements of income, comprehensive incomh@e@rumulated other comprehensive
loss, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for eafcthe years in the three-year period ended Dece3ihe2014, and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2014, which report appears in the DeceBhe2014 annual report on Form 10-K
of Innospec Inc..

Our report dated February 17, 2015, includes oiniop that expresses that Innospec Inc. did nohtaai effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, beeadshe effect of a material weakness on the aelment of the objectives of the control
criteria and contains an explanatory paragraphdtats that Innospec Inc. lacked effective costimlensure the proper application of ASC
830, Foreign Currency Mattersrelated to the treatment of foreign currency gainlosses on intercompany loan balances denoacirmat
currencies other than the entity’s functional coege Our report also contains an explanatory pagagthat states that our audit of internal
control over financial reporting of Innospec Ingckided an evaluation of the internal control dfieancial reporting of Independence Oilfield
Chemicals LLC, which was acquired on October 271,420

(signed) KPMG Audit PLC

Manchester, United Kingdom
February 17, 201



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PATRICK S. WILLIAMS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Patrick S. Williams, certify that:

1.
2.

/sl

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#y) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 17, 201



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P. Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

Is/

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#y) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 17, 201



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2014 as filed thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), |, Patrick S. Williams, Presideand Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdpted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 17, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfés part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionisipon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2014 as filed thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), I, lan P. Cleminson, Executivec®¥ President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICS§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thieaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 17, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfés part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosiomsipon reques



